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“Sientra”, “Sientra Platinum20”, “Sientra Full Circle”, “OPUS”, “Allox”, “Allox2”, “BIOCORNEUM”, “Dermaspan”, “Softspan”, “Silishield”, “miraDry”,
“Miramar Labs”, “miraDry and Design”, “miraDry Fresh”, “bioTip”, “The Sweat Stops Here”, “Drop Design”, “miraWave”, “miraSmooth”, “miraFresh”,
“freshRewards”, “freshNet”, “freshEquity”, and “ML Stylized mark” are trademarks of our company. Our logo and our other trade names, trademarks and service
marks appearing in this document are our property. Other trade names, trademarks and service marks appearing in this document are the property of their respective
owners. Solely for convenience, our trademarks and trade names referred to in the document, appear without the TM or the (R) symbol, but those references are not
intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights, or the rights of the applicable licensor to these
trademarks and trade names.

PART I — FINANCI AL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SIENTRA, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except per share and share amounts)
(Unaudited)
September 30,
2018

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,384 and $4,816 at September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Legal settlement payable
Customer deposits
Sales return liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred and contingent consideration
Warranty reserve and other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value – Authorized 10,000,000 shares; none
issued or outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par value — Authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued 28,650,944 and 19,474,702
and outstanding 28,578,217 and 19,401,975 shares at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost (72,727 shares at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

103,008

$

18,956
22,909
3,482
148,355
2,440
12,507
17,069
709
181,080

$

3,356
11,510
25,218
410
7,706
5,335
53,535
31,361
6,330
1,877
93,103

$

26,588

$

6,569
20,896
1,512
55,565
4,763
12,507
18,803
575
92,213

$

—

$

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2017

286
425,417
(260)
(337,466)
87,977
181,080

24,639
5,811
13,474
1,000
5,423
—
50,347
—
12,597
1,646
64,590

—

$

194
307,159
(260)
(279,470)
27,623
92,213

SIENTRA, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share and share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Legal settlement
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net:
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

$

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders

16,875
6,398
10,477

$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

9,819
3,484
6,335

$

49,104
19,154
29,950

$

25,477
8,427
17,050

15,254
2,881
11,904
—
30,039
(19,562)

7,981
2,911
9,298
—
20,190
(13,855)

45,990
7,930
31,419
—
85,339
(55,389)

21,100
7,677
23,753
10,000
62,530
(45,480)

$

133
(953)
(163)
(983)
(20,545)
—
(20,545)

$

54
(409)
(155)
(510)
(14,365)
16
(14,381)

$

214
(2,474)
(347)
(2,607)
(57,996)
—
(57,996)

$

112
(603)
(151)
(642)
(46,122)
70
(46,192)

$

(0.72)

$

(0.74)

$

(2.39)

$

(2.42)

Weighted average outstanding common shares used
for net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders:
Basic and diluted

28,462,975

19,328,244

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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24,312,300

19,079,788

SIENTRA, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Provision for warranties
Provision for inventory
Amortization of acquired inventory step-up
Change in fair value of warrants
Change in fair value of deferred consideration
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Change in deferred revenue
Non-cash portion of debt extinguishment loss
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Non-cash interest expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Deferred income taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other assets
Insurance recovery receivable
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Legal settlement payable
Customer deposits
Sales return liability
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under ESPP
Tax payments related to shares withheld for vested restricted stock units (RSUs)
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Gross borrowings under the Term Loan
Gross borrowings under the Revolving Loan
Repayment of the Revolving Loan
Deferred financing costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
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$

(57,996)
2,500
996
2
708
106
333
18
2,178
275
—
132
—
10,077
—
—

$

(46,192)
2,037
84
133
468
802
151
(10)
768
—
16
97
1
4,777
12
70

(9,476)
(2,827)
(2,168)
33
6,780
3,789
(590)
2,283
1,429
(41,418)

411
1,208
(2,083)
9,300
(478)
3,613
(9,900)
(987)
—
(35,702)

(414)
—
(414)

(1,173)
(18,455)
(19,628)

1,149
993
(1,419)
107,551
10,000
12,109
(12,109)
(22)
118,252
76,420

1,327
647
(569)
—
25,000
5,000
(5,000)
(646)
25,759
(29,571)

Cash and cash equivalents at:
Beginning of period
End of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Acquisition of business, deferred and contingent consideration obligations at fair value
Non-cash deferred consideration settlement
Non-cash settlement of assets held for sale in accounts payable
Forgiveness of SVB Loan commitment fee

$

26,588
103,008

$

67,212
37,641

$

2,526

$

305

$

1,900
—
1,000
2,674
—

$

700
10,192
—
—
750

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SIENTRA, INC.
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1.

Formation and Business of the Company
a.

Formation

Sientra, Inc. (“Sientra”, the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us”), was incorporated in the State of Delaware on August 29, 2003 under the name Juliet Medical, Inc.
and subsequently changed its name to Sientra, Inc. in April 2007. The Company acquired substantially all the assets of Silimed, Inc. on April 4, 2007. The purpose
of the acquisition was to acquire the rights to the silicone breast implant clinical trials, related product specifications and pre-market approval, or PMA, assets.
Following this acquisition, the Company focused on completing the clinical trials to gain FDA approval to offer its silicone gel breast implants in the United States.
In March 2012, the Company announced it had received approval from the FDA for its portfolio of silicone gel breast implants, and in the second quarter of 2012
the Company began commercialization efforts to sell its products in the United States. The Company, based in Santa Barbara, California, is a medical aesthetics
company that focuses on serving board-certified plastic surgeons and offers a portfolio of silicone shaped and round breast implants, scar management, tissue
expanders, and body contouring products.
In November 2014, the Company completed an initial public offering, or IPO, and its common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange under the symbol
“SIEN.”
b.

Acquisition of miraDry

On June 11, 2017, Sientra entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, or the Merger Agreement, with miraDry, (formerly Miramar Labs), pursuant to which
Sientra commenced a tender offer to purchase all of the outstanding shares of miraDry’s common stock for (i) $0.3149 per share, plus (ii) the contractual right to
receive one or more contingent payments upon the achievement of certain future sales milestones. The total merger consideration was $18.7 million in upfront cash
and the contractual rights represent potential contingent payments of up to $14 million. The transaction, which closed on July 25, 2017, added the miraDry System
to Sientra’s aesthetics portfolio.
c.

Regulatory Review of Vesta Manufacturing

The Company has engaged Vesta Intermediate Funding, Inc., or Vesta, a Lubrizol Lifesciences company, for the manufacture and supply of the Company’s breast
implants. On March 14, 2017, the Company announced it had submitted a site-change pre-market approval, or PMA supplement, to the FDA for the manufacture of
the Company’s PMA-approved breast implants at the Vesta manufacturing facility. On January 30, 2018, the Company announced the FDA has granted approval of
the site-change pre-market approval, or PMA, supplement for the Company’s contract manufacturer, Vesta, to manufacture its silicone gel breast implants. In
support of the move to the Vesta manufacturing facility, the Company also implemented new manufacturing process improvements which, in consultation with the
FDA, required three (3) additional PMA submissions. In addition to approving the manufacturing site-change supplement, the FDA has approved our three (3)
process enhancement submissions on January 10, 2018, January 19, 2018 and April 17, 2018 .
d.

Follow-On Offering

On May 7, 2018, the Company completed an underwritten follow-on public offering of 7,407,408 shares of its common stock at $13.50 per share, as well as
1,111,111 additional shares of its common stock pursuant to the full exercise of the over-allotment option granted to the underwriters. Net proceeds to the Company
were approximately $107.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.9 million and offering expenses of approximately $0.5 million.
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2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, and the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
or SEC. Accordingly, they do not include certain footnotes and financial presentations normally required under accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America for complete financial reporting. The interim financial information is unaudited, but reflects all normal adjustments and accruals which
are, in the opinion of management, considered necessary to provide a fair presentation for the interim periods presented. The accompanying condensed
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 13, 2018 and Form 10-K/A filed on April 30, 2018,
or the Annual Report. The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year
ending December 31, 2018, any other interim periods, or any future year or period.
b.

Liquidity

Since the Company’s inception, it has incurred significant net operating losses and the Company anticipates that losses will continue in the near term. The
Company expects its operating expenses will continue to grow as they expand operations. The Company will need to generate significant net sales to achieve
profitability. To date, the Company has funded operations primarily with proceeds from the sales of preferred stock, borrowings under term loans, sales of products
since 2012, and the proceeds from the sale of common stock in public offerings.
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which implies the Company will continue to realize
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. As of September 30, 2018, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $103.0 million.
Since inception, the Company has incurred recurring losses from operations and cash outflows from operating activities. The continuation of the Company as a
going concern is dependent upon many factors including liquidity and the ability to raise capital . The Company received FDA approval of their PMA supplement
on April 17, 2018 and was then able to access a $10.0 million term loan pursuant to an amendment to the credit agreement with MidCap Financial Trust, or
MidCap. In addition, in February 2018, the Company entered into an At-The-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company,
Incorporated, or Stifel, as sales agent pursuant to which the Company may sell, from time to time, through Stifel, shares of our common stock having an aggregate
gross offering price of up to $50.0 million. As of September 30, 2018, the Company has not sold any common stock pursuant to the sales agreement . Further, on
May 7, 2018, the Company completed a public offering of its common stock, raising approximately $107.6 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.
The Company believes that its cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund its operations for at least the next 12 months. To fund ongoing operating and
capital needs , the Company may need to raise additional capital in the future through the sale of equity securities and incremental debt financing.
c.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements, in conformity with GAAP, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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d.

Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when the Company transfers control of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. See Note 3 - Revenue for further discussion.
There have been no other changes to the accounting policies during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to the significant accounting
policies described in the “Notes to Financial Statements” in the Annual Report.
e.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) , to simplify the accounting for non-employee share-based
payment transactions by expanding the scope of ASC Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from non-employees.
Under the new standard, most of the guidance on stock compensation payments to non-employees would be aligned with the requirements for share-based
payments granted to employees. ASU 2018-07 supersedes Subtopic 505-50, Equity—Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees , and is effective for all public
entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than a
company’s adoption date of Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company early adopted ASU 2018-07 in the third quarter of 2018 and there
was no material impact on its consolidated financial statements from the adoption.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ( Topic 606). Topic 606 supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in
Topic 605 Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) and requires entities to recognize revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The Company adopted Topic 606 in
the first quarter of 2018 to all contracts using the modified retrospective method. The adoption of Topic 606 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
historical net losses and, therefore, no adjustment was made to the opening balance of retained earnings. The comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods.
In accordance with Topic 606 disclosure requirements, the impact of adoption on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet was as follows (in
thousands):

As Reported
December 31, 2017

Balance Sheet
Assets
Accounts receivable, net of allowances
Liabilities
Sales return liability

Total
Adjustment

Adjusted
January 1, 2018

$

6,569

3,906

10,475

$

—

3,906

3,906
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As Reported
September 30, 2018

Balance Sheet
Assets
Accounts receivable, net of allowances
Liabilities
Sales return liability

Total
Adjustment

Amounts Under
Previous Standards

$

18,956

(5,335)

13,621

$

5,335

(5,335)

—

Additionally, in accordance with Topic 606, the balance of breast product inventory estimated to be returned as of September 30, 2018 is included in the
components of the Company’s inventory as “finished goods – right of return” in Note 9b - Inventories. Prior to the adoption of Topic 606, the inventory impact of
estimated returns for breast products was included in the “finished goods” inventory balance and was not separately disclosed.
The adoption of Topic 606 did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated statement of operations.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows – Classifications of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (Topic 230) . The
standard update addresses eight specific cash flow issues not currently addressed by GAAP, with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice of how
these cash receipts and payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The ASU requires a retrospective approach to adoption. The Company
adopted the ASU in the first quarter of 2018. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial
statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Clarifying the Definition of a Business . The standard adds guidance to
assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses by providing a more specific
definition of a business. The Company adopted the ASU in the first quarter of 2018 on a prospective basis. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact
on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting . The standard provides
clarification on when modification accounting should be used for changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award to which an entity would be
required to apply modification accounting under Accounting Standard Codification, or ASC, 718. The Company adopted the ASU in the first quarter of 2018 on a
prospective basis. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) which supersedes FASB Accounting Standard Codification Leases (Topic 840). The
standard is intended to increase the transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and
disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. This accounting standard update will be effective for the Company beginning in fiscal year 2019. In July
2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements , which, among other things, allows companies to elect an optional transition
method to apply the new lease standard through a cumulative-effect adjustment in the period of adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that
adoption of these standards will have on the financial statements and related disclosures.
In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Taxes (Topic 740) , which allows for an entity to elect to reclassify the income tax effects on items
within accumulated other comprehensive income resulting from U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act to retained earnings. The guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted, including interim periods within those years. The Company does not expect to elect to reclassify
the income tax effects under ASU 2018-05, as it does not have a material impact on the condensed consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) - Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair
Value Measurement. The amendment modifies, removes, and adds certain disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. The ASU is effective for annual
periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2019. The amendments on changes in unrealized gains and losses, the
range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement
uncertainty should be applied prospectively for only the most recent interim or annual period presented in the initial fiscal year of adoption. All other amendments
should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented upon their effective date. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
adoption of the standard on the consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40) - Customer’s Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract. The amendment aligns the requirements for capitalizing
implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or
obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal use software license). The accounting for the service element of a hosting
arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the amendment. The ASU is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual
periods, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of the standard on the
consolidated financial statements.
f.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation.
3.

Revenue

Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue primarily through the sale and delivery of promised goods or services to customers and recognizes revenue when control is
transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for the goods or services. Sales prices are
documented in the executed sales contract or purchase order prior to the transfer of control to the customer. Customers may enter into a separate extended service
agreement to purchase an extended warranty for miraDry products from the Company whereby the payment is due at the inception of the agreement. Revenue for
extended service agreements are recognized ratably over the term of the agreements.
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The Company introduced its Platinum20 Limited Warranty Program, or Platinum20, in May 2018 on all OPUS breast implants implanted in the United States or
Puerto Rico on or after May 1, 2018. Platinum20 pro vides for financial assistance for revision surgeries and no-charge contralateral replacement implants upon
the occurrence of certain qualifying events. The Company considers Platinum20 to have an assurance warranty component and a service warranty compone nt. The
assurance component is recorded as a warranty liability at the time of sale (as discussed in Note 7). The Company considers the service warranty component as an
additional performance obligation and defers revenue at the time of sale by estimating a standalone selling price using the expected cost plus margin approach for
each performance obligation. The Company recognizes the revenue once all performance obligations have been met. The liability for the service warranty as of
September 30, 2018 was $0.2 million, of which $0.1 million is considered a short-term obligation and is included in “accrued and other current liabilities” and $0.1
million is considered a long-term obligation and is included in “warranty reserve and other long-term liabilities” on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The
performance obligation is satisfied at the time that Platinum20 benefits are provided and are expected to be satisfied over the following two years for financial
assistance and 20 years for product replacem ent. Revenue recognized for the service warranty performance obligations for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018 was immaterial.
The Company also leverages a distributor network for selling the miraDry System internationally. The Company recognizes revenue when control of the goods or
services is transferred to the distributors. Standard terms in these agreements do not allow for trial periods, right of return, refunds, rebates, payment contingent on
obtaining financing or other terms that could impact the customer’s payment obligation. Contract liabilities are included in “accrued and other current liabilities” in
the condensed consolidated balance sheet.
A portion of the Company’s revenue is generated from the sale of consigned inventory of breast implants maintained at doctor, hospital, and clinic locations. For
these products, revenue is recognized at the time the Company is notified by the customer that the product has been implanted, not when the consigned products are
delivered to the customer’s location.
For Breast Products, with the exception of the Company’s BIOCORNEUM scar management products, the Company allows for the return of products from
customers within six months after the original sale, which is accounted for as variable consideration. Reserves are established for anticipated sales returns based on
the expected amount calculated with historical experience, recent gross sales and any notification of pending returns. The estimated sales return is recorded as a
reduction of revenue and as a sales return liability in the same period revenue is recognized. Actual sales returns in any future period are inherently uncertain and
thus may differ from the estimates. If actual sales returns differ significantly from the estimates, an adjustment to revenue in the current or subsequent period would
be recorded. The Company has established an allowance for sales returns of $5.3 million and $3.9 million as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively, recorded as “sales return liability” on the condensed consolidated balance sheet under Topic 606 as of September 30, 2018 and recorded in “accounts
receivable, net of allowances,” at December 31, 2017 on the condensed consolidated balance sheet, as indicated above in “ Recently Adopted Accounting
Standards.”
Sales tax, value-added tax, and other taxes the Company may collect concurrent with revenue-producing activities are excluded from the measurement of the
transaction price and thus from revenue.
Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations
The Company has determined that the delivery of each unit of product in the Company’s revenue contracts with customers is a separate performance obligation.
The Company’s revenue contracts may include multiple products or services, each of which is considered a separate performance obligation. For such
arrangements, the Company allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The Company generally determines
standalone selling prices based on observable prices or using an expected cost plus margin approach when an observable price is not available. The Company
invoices customers once products are shipped or delivered to customers depending on the negotiated shipping terms.
The Company defers the value of the service warranty revenue and recognizes it once all performance obligations have been met.
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Practical Expedients and Policy Election
The Company generally expenses sales commissions when incurred because the amortization period would have been one year or less. These costs are recorded
within sales and marketing expenses.
The Company does not adjust accounts receivable for the effects of any significant financing components as customer payment terms are shorter than one year.
The Company has elected to account for shipping and handling activities performed after a customer obtains control of the products as activities to fulfill the
promise to transfer the products to the customer. Shipping and handling activities are largely provided to customers free of charge for the Breast Products segment.
The associated costs were $0.9 million and $0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. The associated costs were $0.3 million and $0.2
million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. These costs are viewed as part of the Company’s marketing programs and are recorded as a
component of sales and marketing expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations as an accounting policy election. For the miraDry segment,
shipping and handling charges are typically billed to customers and recorded as revenue. The shipping and handling costs incurred are recorded as a component of
cost of goods sold in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. The associated costs were $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
4.

Acquisitions
a.

Acquisition of miraDry

On June 11, 2017, Sientra entered into the Merger Agreement with miraDry, pursuant to which Sientra commenced a tender offer to purchase all of the outstanding
shares of miraDry’s common stock for (i) $0.3149 per share, plus (ii) the contractual right to receive one or more contingent payments upon the achievement of
certain future sales milestones. The total merger consideration was $18.7 million in upfront cash and the contractual rights represent potential contingent payments
of up to $14.0 million. The transaction, which closed on July 25, 2017, or the Acquisition Date, added the miraDry System, the only FDA cleared device indicated
to reduce underarm sweat, odor and hair of all colors, to Sientra’s aesthetics portfolio. The Company did not record any professional fees related to the acquisition
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018. The Company recorded $2.6 million and $3.0 million in professional fees related to the acquisition for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2017. The aggregate acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred was approximately $29.6 million,
consisting of the following (in thousands):
Fair Value

Cash consideration at Acquisition Date (other than debt payoff)
Cash consideration at Acquisition Date (debt payoff)
Deferred consideration
Contingent consideration
Total purchase consideration

$

$

6,193
12,467
966
9,946
29,572

The Company funded the cash consideration, including the debt payoff amount with cash on hand. The cash consideration included the payoff of miraDry’s
existing term loan, or the Note Purchase Agreement dated January 27, 2017 and bridge loan, or the January 2017 Bridge Loan, including interest. The deferred
consideration related to cash held back to be used for either potential litigation-related expenses or for payments to certain former investors of miraDry, as defined
in the Note Purchase Agreement dated January 27, 2017, one year following the Acquisition Date. Upon reaching one year, the deferred consideration has been
classified as $0.4 million of legal settlement payable in the condensed consolidated balance sheet and $0.6 million has offset legal fees paid that the Company had
previously included in “prepaid expenses and other current assets” on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Contingent consideration of future cash payments
of a maximum of $14.0 million represents the contractual right of certain former miraDry shareholders to receive one or more contingent payments upon
achievement of certain future sales milestones and includes certain amounts due to investors related to the remaining balances on the January 2017 Bridge Note and
accrued royalty obligations, with certain amounts held back for potential litigation-related
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expenses. The fair value of the contingent consideration at the acquisition date was determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation model. The inputs include the
estimated amount and timing of future net sales, and a risk-adjusted discount rate. The inputs are significant inputs not observable in the market, which are referred
to as Level 3 inputs and are further discussed in Note 6 . The contingent consideration component is subjec t to the recognition of subsequent changes in fair value
through general and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
In accordance with ASC 805, the Company has recorded the acquired assets (including identifiable intangible assets) and liabilities assumed at their respective fair
value. The allocation of the total purchase price is as follows (in thousands):
July 25,
2017

Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Restricted cash
Other assets
Liabilities assumed:
Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Other current liabilities
Net assets acquired

$

$

205
2,091
7,064
170
528
7,629
14,800
305
12
(908)
(2,294)
(30)
29,572

Goodwill has been allocated to the miraDry reportable segment. The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to the assembled workforce and additional
market opportunities. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
A summary of the intangible assets acquired, estimated useful lives and amortization methods is as follows (in thousands):

Amount

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Distributor relationships
Trade name

$

$

3,000
6,300
500
5,000
14,800

Estimated useful
life

15 years
14 years
9 years
15 years

The Company retained an independent third-party appraiser to assist management in its valuation and the purchase price has been finalized.
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Amortization
method

Accelerated
Accelerated
Accelerated
Accelerated

Unaudited Pro Forma Information
The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents combined results of operations for each of the periods presented, as if miraDry had been acquired
as of the beginning of fiscal year 2017. The pro forma information includes adjustments to amortization for intangible assets acquired, the purchase accounting
effect on inventory acquired, interest expense for the additional indebtedness incurred to complete the acquisition, restructuring charges in connection with the
acquisition and acquisition costs. The pro forma data are for informational purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the condensed consolidated results of
operations of the combined business had the merger actually occurred at the beginning of fiscal year 2017 or of the results of future operations of the combined
business. Consequently, actual results will differ from the unaudited pro forma information presented below (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2017
Pro Forma

Net sales
Net loss
Pro forma loss per share attributable to ordinary shares - basic and diluted
5.

$
$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2017
Pro Forma

10,668
(11,960)
(0.62)

$
$

35,681
(56,053)
(2.95)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, customer deposits and sales return liability are
reasonable estimates of their fair value because of the short maturity of these items. The fair value of the common stock warrant liability and contingent
consideration are discussed in Note 6. The fair value of the debt is based on the amount of future cash flows associated with the instrument discounted using the
Company’s estimated market rate. As of September 30, 2018, the carrying value of the long-term debt was not materially different from the fair value.
6.

Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer
a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the
measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first
two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable:
•

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2 — Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices) such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted
prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

•

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining the fair value of the
assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

The Company’s common stock warrant liabilities are carried at fair value determined according to the fair value hierarchy described above. The Company has
utilized an option pricing valuation model to determine the fair value of its outstanding common stock warrant liabilities. The inputs to the model include fair value
of the common stock related to the warrant, exercise price of the warrant, expected term, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate and dividend yield. The warrants
are valued using the fair value of common stock as of the measurement date. The Company historically has been a private company and lacks company-specific
historical and implied volatility
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information of its stock. Therefore, it estimates its expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of publicly traded peer companies for a term equal to
the remaining contractual term of the warrants. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve for time periods
approximately equal to the remaining contractual term of the warrants. The Company has estimated a 0% dividend yield based on the expected dividend yield and
the fact that the Company has never paid or declared dividends. As several significant inputs are not observable , the overall fair value measurement of the warrants
is classified as Level 3.
The Company assessed the fair value of the contingent consideration for future royalty payments related to the acquisition of BIOCORNEUM, the contingent
consideration for future milestone payments for the acquisition of the tissue expander portfolio and the contingent consideration for the future milestone payments
related to the acquisition of miraDry using a Monte-Carlo simulation model. Significant assumptions used in the measurement include future net sales for a defined
term and the risk-adjusted discount rate associated with the business. As the inputs are not observable, the overall fair value measurement of the contingent
consideration is classified as Level 3.
The following tables present information about the Company’s liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 and indicate the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair value (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurements as of
September 30, 2018 Using:
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Liabilities:
Liability for common stock warrants
Liability for contingent consideration

$

—
—
—

$

$
$

527
14,497
15,024

Fair Value Measurements as of
December 31, 2017 Using:
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Liabilities:
Liability for common stock warrants
Liability for contingent consideration

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

194
12,319
12,513

Total

527
14,497
15,024

Total

194
12,319
12,513

The liability for common stock warrants and the current portion of contingent consideration is included in “accrued and other current liabilities” and the long-term
liabilities for the contingent consideration are included in “deferred and contingent consideration” in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The following table
provides a rollforward of the aggregate fair values of the Company’s common stock warrants and contingent consideration for which fair value is determined by
Level 3 inputs (in thousands):
Warrant Liability
Balance, December 31, 2017
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Balance, September 30, 2018

$
$

Contingent Consideration Liability
Balance, December 31, 2017
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Balance, September 30, 2018

$
$

194
333
527
12,319
2,178
14,497

The Company recognizes changes in the fair value of the warrants in “other income (expense), net” in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and
changes in contingent consideration are recognized in “general and administrative” expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
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7.

Product Warranties

The Company offers a product replacement and limited warranty program for the Company’s silicone gel breast implants, and a product warranty for the
Company’s miraDry Systems and consumable bioTips, which the Company considers to be assurance-type warranties. For implants occurring prior to May 1,
2018, the Company provides replacement implants and revision surgery financial assistance, up to $3,600, for covered rupture events that occur within ten years of
the implant surgery. The Company introduced its Platinum20 Limited Warranty Program in May 2018, covering OPUS breast implants implanted in the United
States or Puerto Rico on or after May 1, 2018. The Company considers the program to have an assurance warranty component and a service warranty component.
The service warranty component is discussed in Note 3. The assurance component is related to the lifetime no-charge contralateral replacement implants and
revision surgery financial assistance, up to $5,000, for covered rupture events that occur within twenty years of the implant surgery. Under the miraDry warranty,
the Company provides a standard product warranty for the miraDry system and bioTips.
The following table provides a rollforward of the accrued warranties (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Beginning balance as of January 1
Acquired warranty liability
Warranty costs incurred during the period
Changes in accrual related to warranties issued during the period
Changes in accrual related to pre-existing warranties
Balance as of September 30
8.

$

1,642
—
(395)
639
(637)
1,249

$

$

1,378
137
(11)
125
8
1,637

$

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during each period. Diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
common shares and dilutive potential common share equivalents then outstanding, to the extent they are dilutive. Potential common shares consist of shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants (using the treasury stock method). Dilutive net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share for all
periods presented because the effects of potentially dilutive items were anti-dilutive.
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Net loss (in thousands)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

$

(20,545)

$

(14,381)

$

(57,996)

$

(46,192)

$

28,462,975
(0.72)

$

19,328,244
(0.74)

$

24,312,300
(2.39)

$

19,079,788
(2.42)

The Company excluded the following potentially dilutive securities, outstanding as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, from the computation of diluted net loss per
share attributable to common stockholders for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 because they had an anti-dilutive impact due to the
net loss attributable to common stockholders incurred for the periods.
September 30,
2018

Stock options to purchase common stock
Warrants for the purchase of common stock

1,926,835
47,710
1,974,545
15

2017

1,872,999
47,710
1,920,709

9.

Balance Sheet Components
a.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company has established an allowance for doubtful accounts of $1.4 million and $0.9 million as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively,
recorded net against accounts receivable in the balance sheet.
b.

Inventories

Inventories, net consist of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2018

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Finished goods - right of return

$

$
c.

1,946
1,806
17,805
1,352
22,909

December 31,
2017

$

$

1,642
3,956
15,298
—
20,896

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2018

Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total
d.

$
$

2,370
1,112
3,482

December 31,
2017

$
$

1,040
472
1,512

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consist of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2018

Leasehold improvements
Manufacturing equipment and toolings
Computer equipment
Software
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

$

Less accumulated depreciation
$

402
1,809
478
1,023
156
820
4,688
(2,248)
2,440

December 31,
2017

$

$

402
4,260
387
797
142
816
6,804
(2,041)
4,763

Depreciation expense for both the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $0.2 million. Depreciation expense for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respectively.
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Under the terms of the manufacturing agreement with Vesta, upon the commencement of Contract Year One (as define d in the agreement) which occurred
following FDA-approval of all submissions related to the site-change PMA supplement for the Vesta manufacturing facility Vesta is obligated to purchase the
manufacturing equipment and tooling that Sientra had originally p urchased for the manufacture of Sientra’s breast implant inventory at Vesta’s manufacturing
facility. Vesta repurchased the equipment with a net book value of $2.7 million in the third quarter of 2018 through a reduction in the Company’s accounts payable
b alance owed to Vesta.
e.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, net

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets of purchased businesses. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead subject to
impairment tests on at least an annual basis and whenever circumstances suggest that goodwill may be impaired. The Company’s annual test for impairment is
performed as of October 1 of each fiscal year. The Company makes a qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is
less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, it is
not required to perform the impairment assessment for that reporting unit.
The applicable accounting guidance requires the Company to compare the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair
value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired. The impairment loss is measured by the excess of
the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill over the fair value of that goodwill.
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 were as follows (in thousands):
Breast Products

Balances as of December 31, 2017
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment losses
Goodwill, net

$
$

Balances as of September 30, 2018
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment losses
Goodwill, net

$
$
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miraDry

19,156
(14,278)
4,878

$

19,156
(14,278)
4,878

$

$

$

Total

7,629
—
7,629

$

7,629
—
7,629

$

$

$

26,785
(14,278)
12,507

26,785
(14,278)
12,507

The components of the Company’s other intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands) :
Average
Amortization
Period
(in years)

Intangibles with definite lives
Customer relationships
Trade names - finite life
Developed technology
Distributor relationships
Non-compete agreement
Regulatory approvals
Acquired FDA non-gel product approval
Total definite-lived intangible assets

11
14
15
9
2
1
11

Intangibles with indefinite lives
Trade names - indefinite life
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets

Gross Carrying
Amount

$

$

11,240
5,800
3,000
500
80
670
1,713
23,003

$

450
450

—

Average
Amortization
Period
(in years)

Intangibles with definite lives
Customer relationships
Trade names - finite life
Developed technology
Distributor relationships
Non-compete agreement
Regulatory approvals
Acquired FDA non-gel product approval
Total definite-lived intangible assets

11
14
15
9
2
1
11

Intangibles with indefinite lives
Trade names - indefinite life
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets

Gross Carrying
Amount

$

$

11,240
5,800
3,000
500
80
670
1,713
23,003

$

450
450

—

September 30, 2018
Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

Intangible
Assets, net

(3,078)
(460)
(277)
(108)
(78)
(670)
(1,713)
(6,384)

—
—

$

$

$

8,162
5,340
2,723
392
2
—
—
16,619

$

450
450

December 31, 2017
Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

Intangible
Assets, net

(1,859)
(216)
(95)
(40)
(57)
(670)
(1,713)
(4,650)

—
—

$

$

$

9,381
5,584
2,905
460
23
—
—
18,353

$

450
450

Amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $0.6 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Amortization expense for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $1.7 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The following table summarizes the estimated amortization expense
relating to the Company's definite-lived intangible assets as of September 30, 2018 (in thousands):
Amortization
Expense

Period

Remainder of 2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter

$

$

18

574
2,321
2,209
1,996
1,762
7,757
16,619

f.

Accrued and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
September 30,

December 31,

2018

Payroll and related expenses
Accrued commissions
Accrued equipment
Deferred and contingent consideration, current portion
Audit, consulting and legal fees
Accrued sales and marketing expenses
Other

$

$
10.

2017

6,818
2,978
200
8,440
768
1,255
4,759
25,218

$

$

3,579
3,297
1,091
977
920
794
2,816
13,474

Long-Term Debt and Revolving Loan

On July 25, 2017, the Company entered into a Credit and Security Agreement, or the Term Loan Credit Agreement, and a Credit and Security Agreement, or the
Revolving Credit Agreement with MidCap, and, together with the Term Loan Credit Agreement, the Credit Agreements, which replaced the Company’s thenexisting Silicon Valley Bank Loan Agreement, or the SVB Loan Agreement.
Under the terms of the Term Loan Credit Agreement,
as of July 25, 2017, MidCap funded $25.0 million to the Co mpany, or the Closing Date Term Loan.
MidCap also made available to the Company until March 31, 2018, a $10.0 million term loan, or the March 2018 Term Loan, subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions, including FDA certifications of the manufacturing facility operated by Vesta, and an additional $5.0 million term loan, subject to the satisfaction of
certain conditions, including evidence that the Company’s Net Revenue for the past 12 months was greater than or equal to $75.0 million, as defined in the Term
Loan Credit Agreement, collectively the Term Loans. On April 18, 2018, the Company amended the Term Loan Credit Agreement pursuant to which the parties
agreed to adjust the date by which the Company must obtain FDA approval of its PMA supplement in order to access the March 2018 Term Loan until April 30,
2018. In April 2018, upon FDA approval of the Company’s PMA supplement, MidCap funded the $10.0 million March Term Loan. Under the Revolving Credit
Agreement, MidCap made available to the Company a revolving line of credit, or the Revolving Loan. The amount of loans available to be drawn is based on a
borrowing base equal to 85% of the net collectible value of eligible accounts receivable plus 40% of eligible finished goods inventory, or the Borrowing Base,
provided that availability from eligible finished goods inventory does not exceed 20% of the Borrowing Base. The Company used a portion of the $25.0 million of
proceeds from the Closing Date Term Loan to repay in full the Company’s then-existing indebtedness under its SVB Loan Agreement and to pay fees and expenses
in connection with the foregoing and the Company intends to use the remainder of the proceeds for general corporate purposes.
Any indebtedness under the Term Loan Credit Agreement bears interest at a floating per annum rate equal to the LIBOR as reported by MidCap with a floor of
1.00%, which as of September 30, 2018 was 2.10%, plus 7.50%. The Term Loans have a scheduled maturity date of December 1, 2021, or the Maturity Date. The
Company must make monthly payments of accrued interest under the Term Loans from the funding date of the Term Loans, until December 31, 2018, followed by
monthly installments of principal and interest through the Maturity Date. Under the terms of the Term Loan Credit Agreement, the Company has the option to
extend the interest only period an additional six months to June 30, 2019 as long as the Company remains in compliance with the Term Loan Agreement. As of
September 30, 2018, the Company intends to extend the interest only period through June 30, 2019. The Company may prepay all of the Term Loans prior to its
maturity date provided the Company pays MidCap a prepayment fee. The Company paid an origination fee of 0.50% of the Term Loans total amount of $40.0
million on the closing date. As of September 30, 2018, there was $35.0 million outstanding related to the Term Loans. As of September 30, 2018, the unamortized
debt issuance costs on the Term Loans was approximately $0.1 million current portion and approximately $0.1 million long-term portion and are included as a
reduction to debt on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.
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Any indebtedness under the Revolving Credit Agreement bears interest at a floating per annum rate equal to the LIBOR as reported by MidCap with a floor of
1.00%, plus 4.50%. The Company may make and repay borrowings from time to time under the Revolving Credit Agreement until the maturity of the facility on
December 1, 2021. The Company is required to pay an annual collateral management fee of 0.50% on the outstanding balance, and an annual unused line fee of
0.50% of the average unused portion. The Company paid an origination fee of 0.50% of the Revolving Loan amount of $10.0 million on the closing date. The
Company classifies the amounts borrowed under the Revolving Loan as short term because it is the Company's intention to use the line of credit to borrow and pay
back funds over short periods of time. As of September 30, 2018, there were no borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Loan. As of September 30, 2018, the
unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Revolving Loan was approximately $0.1 million and was included in other long-term assets on the condensed
consolidated balance sheet.
The amortization of debt issuance costs for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $47,000 and $28,500, respectively. The amortization of debt
issuance costs for both the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $0.1 million, and was included in interest expense in the condensed consolidated
statements of operations.
The Credit Agreements include customary affirmative and restrictive covenants and representations and warranties, including a financial covenant for minimum
revenues, a financial covenant for minimum cash requirements, a covenant against the occurrence of a “change in control,” financial reporting obligations, and
certain limitations on indebtedness, liens, investments, distributions, collateral, mergers or acquisitions, taxes, and deposit accounts. Upon the occurrence of an
event of default, a default interest rate of an additional 5.0% may be applied to any outstanding principal balances, and MidCap may declare all outstanding
obligations immediately due and payable and take such other actions as set forth in the Credit Agreements. The Company’s obligations under the Credit
Agreements are secured by a security interest in substantially all of The Company’s assets.
Future Principal Payments of Debt
The future schedule of principal payments for the outstanding Term Loans as of September 30, 2018 was as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total
11.

$

$

7,000
14,000
14,000
—
—
—
35,000

Stockholders’ Equity
a.

Authorized Stock

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 210,000,000 shares of common and preferred stock,
consisting of 200,000,000 shares of common stock with $0.01 par value and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with $0.01 par value. As of September 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017, the Company had no preferred stock issued or outstanding.
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b.

Common Stock Warrants

On January 17, 2013, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, or the Original Term Loan Agreement, with Oxford Finance, LLC, or Oxford. On
June 30, 2014, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, or the Amended Term Loan Agreement, with Oxford. In
connection with the Original Term Loan Agreement and the Amended Term Loan Agreement, the Company issued to Oxford (i) seven-year warrants in
January 2013 to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock with a value equal to 3.0% of the tranche A, B and C term loans amounts and (ii) seven-year
warrants in June 2014 to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock with a value equal to 2.5% of the tranche D term loan amount. The warrants have an
exercise price per share of $14.671. As of September 30, 2018 , there were warrants to purchase an aggregate of 47,710 shares of common stock outstanding.
c.

Stock Option Plans

In April 2007, the Company adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2007 Plan. The 2007 Plan provides for the granting of stock options to employees,
directors and consultants of the Company. Options granted under the 2007 Plan may either be incentive stock options or nonstatutory stock options. Incentive stock
options, or ISOs, may be granted only to Company employees. Nonstatutory stock options, or NSOs, may be granted to all eligible recipients. A total of 1,690,448
shares of the Company’s common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan.
The Company’s board of directors adopted the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2014 Plan, in July 2014, and the stockholders approved the 2014 Plan in October
2014. The 2014 Plan became effective upon completion of the IPO on November 3, 2014, at which time the Company ceased granting awards under the 2007 Plan.
Under the 2014 Plan, the Company may issue ISOs, NSOs, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards and other forms of stock
awards, or collectively, stock awards, all of which may be granted to employees, including officers, non-employee directors and consultants of the Company and
their affiliates. ISOs may be granted only to employees. A total of 1,027,500 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan,
subject to certain annual increases. As of September 30, 2018, a total of 132,719 shares of the Company’s common stock were available for issuance under the
2014 Plan.
Pursuant to a board-approved Inducement Plan, the Company may issue NSOs and restricted stock unit awards, or collectively, stock awards, all of which may only
be granted to new employees of the Company and their affiliates in accordance with NASDAQ Stock Market Rule 5635(c)(4) as an inducement material to such
individuals entering into employment with the Company. As of September 30, 2018, inducement grants for 876,441 shares of common stock have been awarded,
and 91,306 shares of common stock were available for future issuance under the Inducement Plan.
Options under the 2007 Plan and the 2014 Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years as determined by the Company’s board of directors, provided,
however, that (i) the exercise price of an ISO shall not be less than 100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, and (ii) the exercise price of
an ISO granted to a more than 10% shareholder shall not be less than 110% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant. An NSO has no such
exercise price limitations. NSOs under the Inducement Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years as determined by the board of directors, provided, the
exercise price will not be less than 100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant. Options generally vest with 25% of the grant vesting on the
first anniversary and the balance vesting monthly on a straight-lined basis over the requisite service period of three additional years for the award. Additionally,
options have been granted to certain key executives that vest upon achievement of performance conditions based on performance targets as defined by the board of
directors, which have included net sales targets and defined corporate objectives over the performance period with possible payout ranging from 0% to 100% of the
target award. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-lined basis over the vesting term of one year based upon the probable performance target that will
be met. The vesting provisions of individual options may vary but provide for vesting of at least 25% per year.
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The following summarizes all option activity under the 2007 Plan, 2014 Plan and Inducement Plan:

Option
Shares

Balances at December 31, 2017
Exercised
Forfeited
Balances at September 30, 2018

2,179,787
(147,463)
(77,341)
1,954,983

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
term (year)

Weighted
average
exercise
price

$

7.60
7.79
11.44
7.43

$

7.27

6.56

For stock-based awards the Company recognizes compensation expense based on the grant date fair value using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. Stockbased compensation expense related to stock options was $0.5 million for both the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Stock-based compensation
expense related to stock options was $1.3 million and $1.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of September 30,
2018, there was $1.2 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to stock options. The expense is recorded within the operating expense components in the
condensed consolidated statement of operations based on the recipients receiving the awards. These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.45 years.
d.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company has issued restricted stock unit awards, or RSUs, under the 2014 Plan and the Inducement Plan. The RSUs issued to employees generally vest on a
straight-line basis, either quarterly over a 4-year requisite service period or annually over a 3-year requisite service period. RSUs issued to non-employees generally
vest either monthly or annually over the service term.
Activity related to RSUs is set forth below:
Weighted
average
grant date
fair value

Number
of shares

Balances at December 31, 2017
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Balances at September 30, 2018

928,552
1,738,940
(464,507)
(154,112)
2,048,873

$

$

9.12
13.98
10.18
11.23
12.84

Stock-based compensation expense for RSUs for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $3.8 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Stockbased compensation expense for RSUs for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $8.4 million and $2.8 million respectively. As of
September 30, 2018, there was $23.8 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested RSU awards. The cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of 2.33 years.
e.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s board of directors adopted the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, in July 2014, and the stockholders approved the ESPP in October
2014. The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a discount through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their
eligible compensation, subject to any plan limitations. The ESPP provides for offering periods not to exceed 27 months, and each offering period will include
purchase periods, which will be the approximately six-month period commencing with one exercise date and ending with the next exercise date. Employees are
able to purchase shares at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the first trading day of the offering period or on the
purchase date. A total of 255,500 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the ESPP, subject to certain annual increases.
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During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 , employees purchased 145,616 shares of common sto ck at a weighted average price of $6.82 per share. As of
September
30,
2018
,
the
number
of
shares
of
common
stock
available
for
future
issuance
was
543,955.

The Company estimated the fair value of employee stock purchase rights using the Black-Scholes model. Stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP
was $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP
was $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
12.

Income Taxes

The Company operates in several tax jurisdictions and is subject to taxes in each jurisdiction in which it conducts business. To date, the Company has incurred
cumulative net losses and maintains a full valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding realization of such assets. Tax
expense was $0 and $16,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Tax expense was $0 and $0.1 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
13.

Segment Information

Reportable Segments
The Company has two reportable segments: Breast Products and miraDry. The Breast Products segment focuses on sales of silicone gel breast implants, tissue
expanders and scar management products under the brands Sientra, AlloX2, Dermaspan, Softspan and BIOCORNEUM. The miraDry segment focuses on sales of
the miraDry System, consisting of a console and a handheld device which uses consumable single-use bioTips. These segments align with the Company’s principal
target markets. On July 25, 2017, the Company acquired miraDry. See Note 4 – Acquisitions for additional details. miraDry has been included in the condensed
consolidated results of operations as of the Acquisition Date and financial performance of the acquired business is reported in the miraDry segment. The segments
represent components for which separate financial information is available that is utilized on a regular basis by the Chief Executive Officer, who has been identified
as the Chief Operating Decision Maker, or CODM, as defined by authoritative guidance on segment reporting, in determining how to allocate resources and
evaluate performance. The segments are determined based on several factors, including client base, homogeneity of products, technology, delivery channels and
similar economic characteristics.
The Company’s CODM assesses the performance of each segment and allocates resources to those segments based on net sales and operating income (loss).
Operating income (loss) by segment includes items that are directly attributable to each segment, including sales and marketing functions, as well as finance,
information technology, human resources, legal and related corporate infrastructure costs, along with certain benefit-related expenses. There are no unallocated
expenses for the two segments.
The following tables present the net sales, net operating loss and net assets by reportable segment for the periods presented (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

Net sales
Breast Products
miraDry
Total net sales

$
$
23

8,613
8,262
16,875

$
$

7,655
2,164
9,819

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

$
$

26,566
22,538
49,104

$
$

23,313
2,164
25,477

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

Loss from operations
Breast Products
miraDry
Total loss from operations

$
$

Assets
Breast Products
miraDry
Total assets
14.

13,873
5,689
19,562

$
$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

11,253
2,602
13,855

$
$

$
$

39,111
16,278
55,389

$

42,878
2,602
45,480

$

September 30,

December 31,

2018

2017

144,333
36,747
181,080

$
$

59,365
32,848
92,213

Commitments and Contingencies
a.

Operating Leases

The Company’s leases for its general office facilities are in Santa Barbara, California and Santa Clara, California, with leases expiring February 2020 and May
2024, respectively. The Company also leases additional industrial space for warehouse, research and development and additional general office use. Rent expense
was $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Rent expense was $0.9 million and $0.5 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
b.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to claims and assessment from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company accrues a liability for such matters when it is
probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated.
Class Action Shareholder Litigation
On September 25, 2015, a lawsuit styled as a class action of the Company ’ s stockholders was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of
California naming the Company and certain of its officers as defendants for allegedly false and misleading statements concerning the Company ’ s business,
operations, and prospects. On October 28, November 5, and November 19, 2015, three lawsuits styled as class actions of the Company ’ s stockholders were filed
in the Superior Court of California for the County of San Mateo naming the Company, certain of its officers and directors, and the underwriters associated with the
Company ’ s follow-on public offering that closed on September 23, 2015 as defendants for allegedly false and misleading statements in the Company ’ s offering
documents associated with the follow-on offering concerning its business, operations, and prospects. On September 13, 2016, the parties to the actions pending in
the San Mateo Superior Court and the United States District Court for the Central District of California signed a memorandum of understanding that sets forth the
material deal points of a settlement that covers both actions and includes class-wide relief. Following a final fairness hearing in the federal court, on May 23, 2017,
the federal court extended an order granting final approval of the settlement and dismissing the federal court action with prejudice. Following a final fairness
hearing in the state court, on May 31, 2017, the state court entered an order granting final approval of the settlement and dismissing the state court action with
prejudice.
As a result of these developments, the Company determined a probable loss had been incurred and recognized a net charge to earnings of approximately $1.6
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 within general and administrative expense which was comprised of the loss contingency of approximately
$10.9 million, net of expected insurance proceeds of approximately $9.4 million. In the first quarter of 2017, the Company received $9.3 million in insurance
proceeds and paid the $10.9 million loss contingency. The remaining insurance proceeds receivable is classified as “prepaid expenses and other current assets” on
the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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miraDry Class Action Litigation
On August 3, 2017, a lawsuit styled as a verified class action on the part of the former stockholders of miraDry was filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of
Delaware against the former board of directors of miraDry, or the Defendants, alleging breach of their fiduciary duties in connection with the
Company’s acquisition of miraDry. On August 30, 2017, the Defendants moved to dismiss the verified class action complaint for failure to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted. On November 11, 2017 the parties notified the Court that they had reached an agreement to settle the matter pending completion of
confirmatory discovery regarding the fairness of the settlement and obtaining approval from the court. Under the terms of the proposed settlement, in exchange for
a full and final settlement and release of all claims, the Defendants (and/or their indemnitors and/or insurers) agreed to pay a settlement consideration of $0.4
million. The miraDry Merger Agreement contained a holdback amount expected to be used for the settlement and associated costs of the miraDry Class Action
litigation. The holdback amount has been used to offset $0.6 million of legal fees and $0.4 million is included in “legal settlement payable” on the condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2018.
Silimed Litigation
On July 27, 2017, the Company entered into a settlement agreement, or the Settlement Agreement, with Silimed to settle outstanding litigations with Silimed.
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, in exchange for a mutual release of claims and covenants n ot to sue or pursue certain litigation, Sientra paid Silimed a lump
sum of $9.0 million on September 7, 2017 and paid an additional $1.0 million on June 29, 2018. In addition, should the Company enter into international markets
using certain breast implant specifications, the Company has agreed to make royalty payments of $12.5 on each of its net sales of such products, up to a maximum
royalty of $5.0 million.
It is possible that additional suits will be filed, or allegations made by stockholders, with respect to these same or other matters and also naming the Company
and/or its officers and directors as defendants. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses and intends to defend these lawsuits vigorously.
15.

Subsequent Events

Amendment of Lease
On October 19, 2018, miraDry, entered into a First Amendment to the Lease, or the Lease Amendment, effective October 9, 2018 with IPX Walsh Bowers
Investors, L.P., or the Landlord. The Lease Amendment amends the Lease dated December 16, 2013, as amended, or collectively, the Lease, for the office space
located at 2845 Bowers Avenue, 2855 Bowers Avenue, and 2790 Walsh Avenue, Santa Clara, California containing approximately 29,256 rentable square feet, or
the Premises. The Lease Amendment extends the term for the Lease for a period of sixty-two (62) months until its new expiration on July 31, 2024. Pursuant to the
Lease Amendment, miraDry agreed to provide an amendment to its existing letter of credit in the amount of $0.3 million to extend the expiration date of such letter
until September 30, 2024.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the audited financial statements and notes thereto as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2017 and the related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, both of which
are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 13, 2018
and 10-K/A filed on April 30, 2018, or the Annual Report. Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to “Sientra,”
“the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Sientra, Inc.
Forward-Looking Statements
The information in this discussion contains forward-looking statements and information within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of
the Exchange Act, which are subject to the “safe harbor” created by those sections. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements
concerning our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects and plans and objectives of management. The
words “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “projects,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions
or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events
could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements that we make. These forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including, without limitation,
the risks set forth in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our other filings with the SEC. The forward-looking statements
are applicable only as of the date on which they are made, and we do not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
Overview
We are a medical aesthetics company committed to making a difference in patients’ lives by enhancing their body image, growing their self‑esteem and restoring
their confidence. We were founded to provide greater choices to board‑certified plastic surgeons and patients in need of medical aesthetics products. We have
developed a broad portfolio of products with technologically differentiated characteristics, supported by independent laboratory testing and strong clinical trial
outcomes. We sell our breast implants and tissue expanders exclusively to board‑certified and board‑admissible plastic surgeons and tailor our customer service
offerings to their specific needs, which we believe helps secure their loyalty and confidence.
On June 11, 2017, we entered into a Merger Agreement with miraDry (formerly Miramar Labs) pursuant to which we commenced a tender offer to purchase all of
the outstanding shares of miraDry’s common stock. Pursuant to the transaction, which closed on July 25, 2017 we added the miraDry System, the only FDA
cleared device to reduce underarm sweat, odor and hair of all colors to our aesthetics portfolio. Following our acquisition of miraDry in July 2017, we began selling
the miraDry System and bioTips. As a result of the miraDry acquisition, we determined that we will conduct our business in two operating segments: Breast
Products and miraDry. The Breast Products segment focuses on sales of our breast implants, tissue expanders and scar management products under the brands
OPUS, AlloX2, Dermaspan, Softspan and BIOCORNEUM. The miraDry segment focuses on sales of the miraDry System, consisting of a console and a handheld
device which uses consumable single-use bioTips.
On May 7, 2018, we completed an underwritten follow-on public offering in which we sold 7,407,408 shares of common stock at $13.50 per share, as well as
1,111,111 additional shares of common stock pursuant to the full exercise of the over-allotment option granted to the underwriters. Net proceeds to the Company
were approximately $107.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.9 million and offering expenses of approximately $0.5 million.
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We sell both our Breast Products and miraDry products in the U.S. through a dir ect sales organization, which as of September 30, 2018 , consisted of 97
employees, including 80 sales representatives and 17 sales managers. Additionally, we also sell our miraDry System in several international markets where we
leverage a combination of d istributor relationships and direct sales efforts.
Our Markets
The global market for aesthetic procedures is significant. The American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery, or ASAPS, estimates that U.S. consumers spent
approximately $15 billion on approximately 13 million aesthetic procedures in 2016, including both surgical and non‑invasive cosmetic treatments .
Breast Products
Breast augmentation surgery remains the leading aesthetic surgical procedure by dollars and number of procedures in the United States, with over 333,000 primary
breast augmentation procedures performed in the United States in 2017, according to ASAPS. Based on the number of procedures reported by ASAPS and
American Society of Plastic Surgeons, or ASPS, and our estimates of average selling prices, implant mix and implants per procedure, we estimate the size of our
current and potential breast markets to be approximately $1.5 billion on a global basis, with the size of our addressable U.S. market (based on our currently
available breast products, including scar management products) estimated at approximately $700 million.
We sell our breast implants and tissue expanders exclusively to board‑certified and board‑admissible plastic surgeons, as determined by the American Board of
Plas tic Surgery, who we refer to as Plastic Surgeons. These surgeons have completed the extensive multi‑year plastic surgery residency training required by the
American Board of Plastic Surgery. While aesthetic procedures are performed by a wide range of medical professionals, including dermatologists,
otolaryngologists, obstetricians, gynecologists, dentists and other specialists, the majority of aesthetic surgical procedures are performed by Plastic Surgeons.
Plastic Surgeons are thought leaders in the medical aesthetics industry. According to the American Board of Plastic Surgery, there are approximately 6,500
board‑certified plastic surgeons in the United States. In addition, our Breast Products segment is also supported by Multi Specialty Consultants , or MSCs, that sell
scar management products directly to physicians, and we have recently expanded our sales channel to include a dedicated national accounts team focused on selling
our tissue expanders to hospitals.
miraDry
According to the ASAPS, cosmetic procedures have increased by 35% over the past five years with nonsurgical procedures up 39%. Laser and light-based hair
removal continues to be the largest volume among non-invasive and non-injectable procedures. As an emerging market, energy-based procedures for sweat and
odor reduction are not currently tracked by ASAPS data. No one treatment procedure is offered by all physicians, and treatments vary in terms of the treatment goal
and desired effect. As a result, the total aesthetic market as reported by ASAPS does not represent the market potential for miraDry or any other single product or
treatment, but illustrates that each year patients elect to have millions of aesthetic procedures. We believe several factors are contributing to the ongoing growth in
aesthetic procedures, including:
•

Broader availability of safe non-invasive aesthetic procedures. Technological developments have resulted in the introduction of a broader range of
safe, non-invasive aesthetic procedures. According to the ASAPS, non-invasive aesthetic treatments are growing faster than invasive surgical
procedures.

•

Increased physician focus on aesthetic procedures. We believe increased restrictions imposed by managed care and government agencies on
reimbursement for medical treatments are motivating our customers to establish or expand their elective aesthetic practices, which generally consist of
procedures paid for directly by patients. We expect this trend to continue as our customers look for ways to expand their practices and improve
profitability.
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Hyperhidrosis is a medical condition of varying degree in which a person sweats excessively. The prevalence of hyperhidrosis in the United States is significant. A
study published by Strutton et al. in the June 2004 issue of the Jour nal of the American Academy of Dermatology, or AAD, titled “US prevalence of hyperhidrosis
and impact on individuals with axillary hyperhidrosis: Results from a national survey,” estimated that 2.8% of the general population has hyperhidrosis (in this stud
y defined as excessive or abnormal sweating) with 50.8% thereof having axillary hyperhidrosis. Additionally, the general consensus of medical practitioners is that
the definition of hyperhidrosis includes anyone who is bothered by their sweat. As such, the definition of axillary hyperhidrosis is broad in scope and the condition
depends upon whether patients have determined that their sweating is excessive or abnormal. Because this assessment is subjectively determined by the patients
themselves, there is no quantifiable standard that medical practitioners use to determine whether a patient is suffering from axillary hyperhidrosis. If patients
subjectively determine that their sweating is excessive and as such are bothered by their sweating, such patients are considered to be suffering from axillary
hyperhidrosis.
In 2017, we commissioned a survey of over 2,000 consumers, evaluating several criteria including sweat bothered, dissatisfaction with current treatment, interest in
a non-surgical long-term solution, and interest in the miraDry product description. Based on this survey, we believe there are approximately 37 million people in
the U.S. alone that are bothered by sweat, dissatisfied with their current treatment and/or have an interest in seeking a long-term solution, and that approximately 15
million people would be interested in our miraDry solution. Based on this survey and our average selling price per bioTip, we estimate the size of our addressable
consumables market to be approximately $6 billion in the U.S. Further, based on this survey, our estimates of the number of aesthetic practices in the U.S., the
indicated number of people interested in a miraDry solution and our average selling price per miraDry console, we estimate the size of our addressable equipment
market to be approximately $1.4 billion on a global basis, with the size of our addressable U.S. market estimated at approximately $700 million.
Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that we are well positioned to take advantage of opportunities afforded by current market dynamics. By focusing on products with technologically
differentiated characteristics, demonstrating strong clinical data, offering more product choices and providing services tailored specifically to the needs of
physicians, we believe we can enhance our position in the market. Our competitive strengths include:
Proven and experienced leadership team. We have a highly experienced management team at both the corporate and operational levels with significant
experience in the medical aesthetics industry. Members of our senior management team have extensive experience in the medical aesthetics industry.
Breast Products
Differentiated silicone gel and texturing technologies. We incorporate differentiated technologies into our proprietary breast implants to distinguish ourselves
from our competitors, including our silicone shell, High‑Strength Cohesive silicone gel and a textured surface. Our breast implants offer a desired balance between
strength, shape retention and softness due to the High-Strength Cohesive silicone gel used in our products. In addition, the texturing on Sientra’s implant shell is
designed to reduce the incidence of malposition, rotation and capsular contracture.
Strong clinical trial outcomes. Our clinical trial results demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of our breast implants. Our breast implants were approved by the
FDA based on data we collected from our ongoing, long‑term clinical trial of our breast implants in 1,788 women across 36 investigational sites in the United
States. The clinical data we collected over a ten-year follow-up period demonstrated rupture rates, capsular contracture rates and reoperation rates that were
comparable to or better than those of our competitors, based on our competitors’ published ten-year data.
Innovative services that deliver an improved customer experience. Our customer service offerings are intended to accommodate and anticipate the needs of our
Plastic Surgeons so they can focus on providing better services to their patients. Historically, we have provided an industry-leading ten ‑year limited warranty that
provided patients with a cash reimbursement for certain out‑of‑pocket costs related to revision surgeries in a covered event; a lifetime no‑charge implant
replacement program for covered ruptures; and our industry‑first C3 Program through which we
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offered no ‑charge replacement implants to breast augmentation patients who experienced capsular contracture within the first five years after implantation with our
smooth or textured breast implants. On April 25, 2018, we announced our new Sientra Platinum20 Warranty, which we believe provides an industry-leading policy
of no-charge replacement implants, as well as financial assistance, for certain qualifying events occurring within twenty years of the initial procedure. We also offer
specialized educational initiatives and a streamlined ordering, shipping and billing process.
Board‑‑certified plastic surgeon focus. We sell our breast implants and tissue expanders exclusively to board‑certified and board‑admissible plastic surgeons who
are thought leaders in the medical aesthetics industry. We address the specific needs of Plastic Surgeons through continued product innovation, expansion of our
product portfolio and enhanced customer service offerings. We believe that securing the loyalty and confidence of Plastic Surgeons is essential to our success and
that our association with Plastic Surgeons enhances our credibility and aligns with our focus on making a differen ce in patients’ lives.
miraDry
Strong clinical trial outcomes. The miraDry System is the only FDA cleared device to reduce underarm sweat, odor and hair of all colors. Clinical studies
involving more than 150 patients have shown that one or two miraDry procedures can noticeably and measurably reduce the amount of sweat from the axilla, or
underarm. In our study involving 120 subjects, 89% of patients that received treatment experienced reduction in their sweat with no reported deaths, injuries
requiring immediate medical attention to prevent death, or permanent impairment. In a second study involving 31 patients, patients reported an average of 82%
sweat reduction at 12 months and 100% of patients reported an improvement in their Hyperhidrosis Disease Severity Scale, or HDSS, score at 24 months, with all
patients reporting their sweating as either never noticeable or tolerable. Because sweat glands do not regenerate after the procedure, we believe the results are
lasting.
Patient satisfaction. miraDry allows most patients to achieve noticeable and measurable aesthetic results without the pain, expense, downtime, and risks associated
with invasive and minimally-invasive procedures for sweat, odor and hair reduction. In addition, unlike many other non-invasive procedures, patients are not
required to undergo multiple or recurring treatment procedures to obtain aesthetic results. According to RealSelf.com, a leading online community helping people
make confident choices in elective cosmetic procedures, as of January 16, 2018, the miraDry procedure received a 90% “worth it” rating from patients.
Reproducible results. The miraDry procedure requires limited training and skill to obtain successful aesthetic results. The miraDry System was designed to be
easy to operate and largely automated, resulting in a more consistent application and reproducible results.
Differentiated, high-value product for physician practices. Our selective distribution strategy was designed to enable our customers to market miraDry as a
highly differentiated, non-invasive sweat, odor, and hair reducti on procedure. Based on our commercial data and customer experiences, we have seen attractive
economic benefits for our customers.
Our Strategy
Our objective is to become a leading global provider of differentiated medical aesthetic products and services tailored to meet the needs of physicians, allowing us
to deliver on our commitment to enhance and make a difference in patients’ lives. To achieve our objective, we are pursuing the following business strategies:
Create awareness of our differentiated technologies, products and services with Plastic Surgeons and consumers. Since we commenced commercial operations,
we have focused most of our marketing efforts on Plastic Surgeons to promote and create awareness of the benefits of our products. Among other marketing
programs targeted at Plastic Surgeons, we offer educational initiatives exclusively to Plastic Surgeons through our Sientra Education Forums, and we have
continued our consumer-directed efforts, including an exclusive collaboration with RealSelf.com. We believe that continuing to invest in expanding marketing
initiatives will have a positive impact on our business.
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Selectively pursue acquisitions and expand into new markets. We may continue to selectively pursue domestic and international acquisitions of businesses or
technologies that may allow us to leverage our relationships with Plastic Surgeons and our existing commercial infrastructure to provide us with new or
complementary products or technologies, and allow us to compete in new geographic markets or market segments or to increase our market share. For example, we
began selling BIOCORNEUM directly to physicians in the United States after we acquired the rights to do s o, in addition to rights relating to certain other
specified sales channels from Enaltus in March 2016. We began selling the AlloX2 and Dermaspan lines of breast tissue expanders, and the Softspan line of general
tissue expanders, after we acquired these product lines from Specialty Surgical Products, or SSP, in November 2016. We began selling the miraDry System and
bioTips after the acquisition of miraDry in July 2017 and, based on our commissioned survey of over 2,000 consumers, we believe the market for these products
represents a growing and demographically diverse opportunity to drive sales.
Broaden our product portfolio and launch new products and services. We plan to continue to develop products that address the unmet needs of physicians and
patients by leveraging our innovative technologies in combination with our regulatory and product development expertise. We have a number of new breast
implants and tissue expanders under development with different characteristics and configurations. We believe these expanded product choices will allow Plastic
Surgeons to potentially achieve better outcomes for their patients. In addition, we plan to take advantage of cross selling and product bundling opportunities.
Highly optimized, experienced and fully trained sales force. We maintain separate sales forces within our Breast Products and miraDry segments. As of
September 30, 2018, our combined worldwide sales force consisted of 98 sales representatives and directors in addition to our distributor network. Our Breast
Products sales force primarily consists of Plastic Surgery Consultants, or PSCs, focused on selling all breast products and tissue expanders exclusively to
board‑certified and board‑admissible plastic surgeons. Additionally, our Breast Products segment is also supported by MSCs that sell scar management products
directly to physicians. Our miraDry sales force is a bifurcated organization that is split between Area Sales Managers, or ASMs, who focus on system sales, and
Practice Development Managers, or PDMs, who focus on high margin consumable bioTip sales, assisting practices to market miraDry to patients, undergo product
training and drive system utilization . We have continued to hire high quality, experienced sales representatives and sales management personnel in all categories
and train the sales organization to optimize performance in their respective roles. We believe our sales force will continue to generate increased customer adoption
and patient awareness momentum in the marketplace.
Invest in clinical studies and peer reviewed articles with key opinion leaders. We intend to continue to invest in clinical studies in order to provide published
peer reviewed articles that support the clinical benefits of our products and technologies over those of our competitors. We believe our relationship with Plastic
Surgeons and our continued focus on providing differentiated products and services will allow us to leverage our existing capabilities to increase our share of the
breast implant market specifi cally and the medical aesthetics market generally.
Increase our international presence. There is strong global demand for aesthetic procedures outside of North America. We intend to increase our market
penetration outside of North America and build global brand recognition. We have received regulatory approval or are otherwise free to market miraDry in
numerous international markets. We intend to seek regulatory approval to market miraDry in additional international markets, as well as grow our international
sales and marketing organization to focus on increasing sales and market share, as well as strengthening our customer relationships. As part of this strategy, we are
and intend to continue to opportunistically deploy a direct sales force in select international markets.
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Our Products
Breast Products
Our primary products are silicone gel breast implants for use in breast augmentation and breast reconstruction procedures, which we offer in approximately 400
variations of shapes, sizes, fill volumes and textures. Our breast implants are primarily used in elective procedures that are generally performed on a cash‑pay basis.
Many of our proprietary breast implants incorporate one or more technologies that differentiate us from our competitors, including High‑Strength Cohesive silicone
gel and shell texturing. Our breast implants offer a desired balance between strength, shape retention and softness due to the silicone shell and High‑Strength
Cohesive silicone gel used in our implants. The texturing on Sientra’s implant shell is designed to reduce the incidence of malposition, rotation and capsular
contracture.
Our breast implants were approved by the FDA in 2012, based on three-year data from our recently completed, long‑term clinical trial of our breast impl ants in
1,788 women across 36 investigational sites in the United States, which included 3,506 implants (approximately 53% of which were smooth and 47% of which
were textured). According to a recent publication by the Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery Journal, our clinical trial represents the largest gel breast implant
pivotal trial in the United States and examined the long-term safety and effectiveness of gel breast implants. The study included a large magnetic resonance
imaging, or MRI, cohort, with 57 1 patients. The MRI cohort is a subset of study patients that underwent regular MRI screenings in addition to the other aspects of
the clinical trial protocol prior to FDA approval. Post-approval, all patients in the long-term clinical trial were subject to serial MRI screenings as part of the
clinical protocol. The clinical data we collected over a ten‑year follow‑ up period demonstrated rupture rates, capsular contracture rates and reoperation rates that
were comparable to, or better than, those of our com petitors, at similar time points. In addition to our pivotal study, our clinical data is supported by our completed
five-year Continued Access Study of 2,497 women in the United States. We have also commissioned a number of bench studies run by independent laboratories
that we believe further demonstrate the advantages of our breast implants over those of our competitors.
On August 9, 2016, we announced our collaboration with Vesta Intermediate Funding, Inc., or Vesta, a Lubrizol Lifesciences company, pur suant to which we
worked with Vesta to establish a dedicated manufacturing facility for our breast implants. On March 14, 2017, we announced that we had executed a definitive
manufacturing agreement with Vesta for the manufacture and supply of our breast i mplants and that we had submitted a site-change pre-market approval, or PMA,
supplement to the FDA for the manufacturing of our PMA-approved breast implants by Vesta. Vesta began manufacturing our breast products in October 2017 in
order to build our inventory pending FDA approval of the PMA supplement. On January 30, 2018, we announced that the FDA granted approval of the PMA
supplement for our contract manufacturer, Vesta, to manufacture our silicone gel breast implants. In support of the move to the Ve sta manufacturing facility, we
also implemented new manufacturing process improvements which, in consultation with the FDA, required three (3) additional submissions. These submissions
were approved by the FDA on January 10, 2018, January 19, 2018 and April 17, 2018. With these latest approvals, we re-launched our breast implant business in
April 2018 and intend to scale implant supply into the second half of 2018.
In addition, we offer BIOCORNEUM, an advanced silicone scar treatment, directly to physicians and the AlloX2, and Dermaspan lines of breast tissue expanders,
as well as the Softspan line of general tissue expanders.
We sell our silicone gel breast implants and tissue expanders exclusively to Plastic Surgeons. We seek to provide Plastic Surgeons with differentiated services,
including enhanced customer service offerings and a twenty‑year limited warranty that provides patients with cash reimbursement for certain out‑of‑pocket costs
related to revision surgeries in a covered event; a lifetime no‑charge implant replacement program for covered ruptures; and the industry’s‑first policy of no‑charge
replacement implants to patients who experience covered capsular contracture, double capsule and late-forming seroma events within twenty years of the initial
implant procedure.
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miraDry Products
In July 2017, we completed our acquisition of miraDry, following which we began selling the miraDry System, the only FDA cleared device indicated to reduce
underarm sweat, odor and hair of all colors through the precise and non-invasive delivery of microwave energy to the region where sweat glands reside. The energy
generates heat at the dermal-fat interface which results in destruction of the sweat glands. At the same time, a continuous hydro-ceramic cooling system protects the
superficial dermis and keeps the heat focused at the dermal-fat interface where the sweat glands reside. Because sweat glands do not regenerate after the procedure,
we believe the results are lasting. Microwaves are the ideal technology as the energy can be focused directly at the dermal-fat interface where the glands reside.
The miraDry System has been cleared by the FDA as indicated for use in the treatment of primary axillary hyperhidrosis, or a condition characterized by abnormal
sweating in excess of that required for regulation of body temperature, plus unwanted underarm hair removal, and permanent reduction of underarm hair of all
colors for Fitzpatrick skin types I – IV. Permanent hair reduction is defined as long-term, stable reduction in the number of hairs regrowing when measured at 6, 9
and 12 months after the completion of a treatment regime. When used for the treatment of primary axillary hyperhidrosis, the miraDry System may reduce
underarm odor. In addition, the miraDry System received CE mark approval for the treatment of primary axillary hyperhidrosis and approval in several other
countries.
The miraDry System provides patients with a non-invasive and durable procedure to selectively destroy underarm sweat glands for both severely hyperhidrotic
patients and those that are bothered by their underarm sweat. The miraDry System has been evaluated in clinical studies, which showed that the system reduced
sweat in one or more procedures of approximately 60-minutes, allowing most patients to achieve immediately noticeable and durable results without the pain,
expense, downtime, or repeat visits associated with surgical and minimally-invasive procedures. The sweat glands in the treated area are destroyed through targeted
heating of the tissue, and because the body does not regenerate sweat glands, we believe the results will be lasting in most patients, although some patients may
need to repeat the miraDry procedure to achieve the lasting results.
The miraDry System consists o f a console and a handheld device which uses consumable single-use bioTips. The miraDry procedure is not technique-dependent,
does not require significant training or skill for the healthcare provider, and the user-interface guides the provider through each step of the procedure for each
treatment. We sell our miraDry System and consumable single-use bioTips only to physicians, consisting of dermatologists, plastic surgeons, aesthetic specialists
and physicians specializing in the treatment of hyperhidrosis. Aesthetic specialists are physicians who elect to offer aesthetic procedures as a significant part of
their practices but are generally not board-certified dermatologists or plastic surgeons. Physicians can market the miraDry procedure as a premium, highlydifferentiated, non-surgical sweat reduction procedure. We are approved to sell the miraDry System in over 40 international markets outside of North America,
including countries in Asia, Europe, the Middle East and South America.
The miraDry segment generated net sales of $8.3 million and $22.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. With the
acquisition of miraDry, we expect net sales, cost of goods sold, sales and marketing, general and administrative, and research and development expenses to increase
in 2018 when compared to 2017 and prior periods.
Intellectual Property
Our Breast Products patent portfolio presently consists of two (2) pending U.S. patent applications, as well as several in-licensed patent rights, and our miraDry
patent portfolio presently consists of approximately twenty-one (21) granted or allowed U.S. patents, ninety-three (93) granted or allowed foreign counterparts
patents, seven (7) pending or published U.S. patent applications, and thirty (30) pending or published foreign counterpart patent applications. Our Breast Products
trademark portfolio presently consists of approximately twelve (12) worldwide registered trademarks and thirteen (13) pending worldwide trademark applications
and our miraDry trademark portfolio presently consists of approximately ninety (90) worldwide registered trademarks and seven (7) pending worldwide trademark
applications.
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Components of Operating Results
Net Sales
We recognize revenue on breast implants and ti ssue expanders, net of sales discounts and estimated returns, as the customer has a standard six-month window to
return purchased breast implants and tissue expanders. Our Breast Products segment net sales include sales of silicone gel breast implants, tissue expanders and
BIOCORNEUM. We defer the value of our service warranty revenue and recognize it once all performance obligations have been met. Net sales for our miraDry
segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 include net sales of the miraDry System and consumable bioTips, as a result of the acquisition of
miraDry on July 25, 2017.
We expect that, in the future, our net sales will fluctuate on a quarterly basis due to a variety of factors, including seasonality of breast augmentation procedures
and purchase of miraDry procedures. We believe that aesthetic procedures are subject to seasonal fluctuation due to patients planning their procedures leading up to
the summer season and in the period around the winter holiday season.
Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Margin
Cost of goods sold consists primarily of costs of finished products purchased from our third‑party manufacturers, reserve for product assurance warranties,
inventory fair market value adjustment, royalty costs, and warehouse and other related costs. With the acquisition of miraDry, cost of goods sold also consists of
raw material, labor, overhead, and variable manufacturing costs associated with the manufacturing of the miraDry Systems and bioTips.
With respect to our supplier contracts, all our products and raw materials are manufactured under contracts with fixed unit costs.
We provide an assurance warranty on our silicone gel breast implants and a standard warranty on our miraDry Systems, handpieces and bioTips. The estimated
warranty costs are recorded at the time of sale. Costs related to our service warranty are recorded when expense is incurred related to meeting our performance
obligations. In addition, the inventory fair market value associated with purchase accounting adjustments and royalty costs related to both the SSP and miraDry
acquisitions are recorded at the time of sale.
We expect our overall gross margin, which is calculated as net sales less cost of goods sold for a given period divided by net sales, to fluctuate in future periods
primarily as a result of quantity of units sold, manufacturing price increases, the changing mix of products sold with different gross margins, warranty costs,
overhead costs and targeted pricing programs.
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Our sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of salaries, bonuses, benefits, incentive compensation, stock-based compensation and travel for our sales,
marketing and customer support personnel. Our sales and marketing expenses also include expenses for trade shows, our no‑charge customer shipping program for
the Breast Products segment and no-charge product evaluation units for the Breast Products segment, as well as educational, promotional and marketing activities,
including direct and online marketing. We expect our sales and marketing expenses to fluctuate in future periods as a result of headcount and timing of our
marketing programs. However, we generally expect these costs will increase in absolute dollars.
Research and Development Expenses
Our research and development, or R&D, expenses primarily consist of clinical expenses, product development costs, regulatory expenses, consulting services,
outside research activities, quality control and other costs associated with the development of our products and compliance with Good Clinical Practices, or cGCP,
requirements. R&D expenses also include related personnel and consultant compensation and stock‑based compensation expense. We expense R&D costs as they
are incurred.
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We expect our R&D expenses to vary as different development projects are initiated, including improvements to our existing products, expansions of our existing
product lines, new product acquisitions and our clinical studies. However, we generally expect these costs will increase in absolute terms over time as we continue
to expand our product portfolio and add related personnel.
General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative, or G&A, expenses primarily consist of salaries, bonuses, benefits, incentive compensation and stock-based compensation for our
executive, financial, legal, business development and administrative functions. Other G&A expenses include contingent consideration fair market value
adjustments, outside legal counsel and litigation expenses, independent auditors and other outside consultants, corporate insurance, facilities and information
technologies expenses.
We expect future G&A expenses to increase as we continue to build our finance, legal, information technology, human resources and other general administration
resources to continue to advance the commercialization of our products. In addition, we expect to continue to incur G&A expenses in connection with operating as
a public company, which may increase further when we are no longer able to rely on the “emerging growth company” exemption we are afforded under the
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act.
Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net primarily consists of interest income, interest expense, changes in the fair value of common stock warrants and amortization of debt
issuance costs associated with our Credit Agreements.
Income Taxes
Income tax expense consists of an estimate for income taxes based on the projected income tax expense for the period. We operate in several tax jurisdictions and
are subject to taxes in each jurisdiction in which we conduct business. To date, we have incurred cumulative net losses and maintain a full valuation allowance on
our net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding realization of such assets.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the revenues and expenses incurred during the reported periods. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions. We discussed accounting policies and assumptions that involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity in Note 2 of the “Notes to Financial
Statements” in our audited financial statements included in the Annual Report. There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and
estimates from those disclosed in the Annual Report, other than the implementation of ASU 2014-09 (Topic 606) Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as
discussed in Note 3 of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Please refer to Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this
Form 10-Q for information on recent accounting pronouncements and the expected impact on our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
The following table sets forth our results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Statement of operations data
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

$

$

16,875
6,398
10,477

$

9,819
3,484
6,335

15,254
2,881
11,904
30,039
(19,562)

7,981
2,911
9,298
20,190
(13,855)

133
(953)
(163)
(983)
(20,545)
—
(20,545)

54
(409)
(155)
(510)
(14,365)
16
(14,381)

$

Net Sales
Net sales increased $7.1 million, or 71.9%, to $16.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to $9.8 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2017. Net sales of our Breast Products segment was $8.6 million, an increase of $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, as
compared to $7.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017, driven primarily by an increase in sales of Allox2 and Dermaspan breast tissue
expanders. Net sales of our miraDry segment was $8.3 million, an increase of $6.1 million, as compared to $2.2 million for the three months ended September 30,
2018, driven primarily by an increase in sales in miraDry Systems and consumable bioTips.
As of September 30, 2018, our U.S. sales organization included 80 sales representatives as compared to 53 sales representatives as of September 30, 2017. The
increase is primarily attributed to the acquisition of miraDry and the subsequent headcount increase of the miraDry sales representatives. Additionally, we also sell
our miraDry System in several international markets where we leverage a combination of distributor relationships and direct sales efforts.
Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Margin
Cost of goods sold increased $2.9 million, or 83.6%, to $6.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $3.5 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2017. The increase was primarily due to an increase in net sales.
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The gross margins for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were 62.1% and 64.5%, respectively. The decrease is primarily due to the acquisition
of miraDry mid quarter on July 25, 2017, which carries a lower margin than Breast Products.
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses increased $7.3 million, or 91.1%, to $15.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $8.0 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2017. The increase was primarily due to higher employee-related costs as a result of increased sales and headcount, and an
increase in marketing expenses and initiatives.
Research and Development Expenses
R&D expenses were unchanged for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, due to an increase in stock-based compensation and employee-related
expenses offset by a reduction in consulting fees.
General and Administrative Expenses
G&A expenses increased $2.6 million, or 28.0%, to $11.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $9.3 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2017. The increase is primarily related to an increase in stock-based compensation and variable compensation, payroll, consulting expenses,
and contingent consideration fair value adjustments, offset by a decrease in legal expenses.
Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was primarily associated with expenses related to the change in fair value of
warrants and interest and amortization of debt issuance costs associated with our Credit Agreements.
Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense is associated with a deferred tax liability associated with indefinite-lived intangible assets from the BIOCORNEUM acquisition and the tissue
expander portfolio acquisition that cannot offset deferred tax assets. Income tax expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $0 and
$16,000, respectively.
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Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
The following table sets forth our results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Statement of operations data
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Legal settlement
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

$

$

49,104
19,154
29,950

$

25,477
8,427
17,050

45,990
7,930
31,419
—
85,339
(55,389)

21,100
7,677
23,753
10,000
62,530
(45,480)

214
(2,474)
(347)
(2,607)
(57,996)
—
(57,996)

112
(603)
(151)
(642)
(46,122)
70
(46,192)

$

Net Sales
Net sales increased $23.6 million, or 92.7%, to $49.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to $25.5 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2017 . Net sales of our Breast Products increased $3.3 million to $26.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared
to $23.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 , driven primarily by an increase in sales of our Allox2 and Dermaspan breast tissue expanders and
our BIOCORNEUM scar management product. Net sales of our miraDry segment increased $20.4 million to $22.5 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, as compared to $2.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 , due to the inclusion of nine months of activity in 2018 versus
approximately two months of activity in 2017.
Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Margin
Cost of goods sold increased $10.7 million, or 127.3%, to $19.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $8.4 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2017 . The increase was primarily due to an increase in net sales and the acquisition of miraDry on July 25, 2017. Cost of goods sold
for our miraDry segment increased $10.0 million to $11.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $1.4 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2017 , due to the inclusion of nine months of activity in 2018 versus approximately two months of activity in 2017.
The gross margins for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were 61.0% and 66.9%, respectively. The decrease is primarily due to the inclusion of
miraDry, which carries a lower margin than Breast Products, for nine months in 2018 as compared to approximately two months in 2017.
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses increased $24.9 million, or 118.0%, to $46.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $21.1 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 . The increase is
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primarily due to the addition of miraDry, higher employee- related costs as a result of increased sales and headcount, an increase in marketing expenses and an
increa se in marketing initiatives . Sales and marketing expense for our miraDry segment increased $19.2 million to $21.1 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 , as compared to $1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, due to the inc lusion of nine months of activity in 2018 versus
approximately two months of activity in 2017.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses increased $0.3 million, or 3.3%, to $7.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $7.7 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 . The increase was primarily due to the addition of miraDry, offset by a decrease in consulting expenses. Research
and development expense for our miraDry segment increased $1.0 million to $1.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $0.5
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, due to the inclusion of nine months of activity in 2018 versus approximately two months of activity in
2017.
General and Administrative Expenses
G&A expenses increased $7.7 million, or 32.3%, to $31.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $23.8 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2017 . The increase was primarily due to the addition of miraDry, an increase in consideration fair value adjustments, consulting expenses,
stock-based compensation, payroll, and bad debt expense, offset by a decrease in legal expenses. G&A expenses for our miraDry segment increased $3.9 million to
$4.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $1.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, due to the inclusion of
nine months of activity in 2018 versus approximately two months of activity in 2017.
Legal Settlement Expenses
The Company had no legal settlement expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 . The $10 million expense for the nine months ended September 30,
2017 was related to the settlement of the Silimed Litigation in 2017.
Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily associated with expenses related to the warrants and interest and
amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the Credit Agreements. Other income (expense), net for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was
primarily associated with expenses related to warrants and amortization of issuance costs associated with the Loan Agreement.
Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense is associated with a deferred tax liability associated with indefinite-lived intangible assets from the BIOCORNEUM acquisition and the tissue
expander portfolio acquisition from SSP that cannot offset deferred tax assets. Income tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $0
and $0.1 million, respectively.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since our inception, we have incurred significant net operating losses and anticipate that our losses will continue in the near term. We expect our operating
expenses will continue to grow as we expand our operations. We will need to generate significant net sales to achieve profitability. To date, we have funded our
operations primarily with proceeds from the sales of preferred stock, borrowings under our term loans, sales of our products since 2012, and the proceeds from the
sale of our common stock in public offerings.
In November 2014, we completed our IPO, raising approximately $77.0 million in net proceeds. In September 2015, we completed a follow-on public offering of
common stock raising approximately $61.4 million in net proceeds.
38

On March 13, 20 17, we entered into the SVB Loan Agreement. Under the terms of the SVB Loan Agreement, SVB made available to us a $15.0 million
Revolving Line of Credit and a $5.0 million term loan. On July 25, 2017, we repaid in full our outstanding indebtedness under th e SVB Loan Agreement and the
agreement was terminated and replaced with the Credit Agreements with MidCap.
On July 25, 2017, we borrowed $25.0 million pursuant to the Term Loan Credit Agreement with MidCap and the other lenders party thereto. We used the proceeds
(i) to repay in full our then-existing indebtedness under the SVB Loan Agreement, which totaled approximately $5.0 million, (ii) to pay fees and expenses in
connection with the foregoing and (iii) for general corporate purposes. The Term Loan Credit Agreement provides for (i) the Closing Date Term Loan, (ii) until
March 31, 2018, an additional $10.0 million term loan facility subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including FDA certification of the manufacturing
facility operated by Vesta and (iii) an additional $5.0 million term loan facility subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including evidence that the
Company’s Net Revenue (as defined in the Term Loan Credit Agreement) for the past 12 months was greater than or equal to $75.0 million. On April 18, 2018, we
amended the Term Loan Credit Agreement with MidCap pursuant to which MidCap agreed to adjust the date by which we must obtain FDA approval of our PMA
supplement in order to access the March 2018 Term Loan until April 30, 2018. Upon FDA approval in April 2018, the $10.0 million March 2018 Term Loan was
funded. In addition, on July 25, 2017, we also entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement with MidCap and the other lenders party thereto. The amount available to
be drawn under the Revolving Credit Agreement is based on a Borrowing Base equal to 85% of the net collectible value of eligible accounts receivable plus 40% of
eligible finished goods inventory, provided that availability from eligible finished goods inventory does not exceed 20% of the Borrowing Base. We may make
(subject to the applicable borrowing base at the time) and repay borrowings from time to time under the Revolving Credit Agreement until the maturity of the
facility on December 1, 2021.
See Note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for a full description of our long-term debt and revolving line of credit.
In February 2018, we entered into an At-The-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, or Stifel, as sales agent
pursuant to which we may sell, from time to time, through Stifel shares of our common stock having an aggregate gross offering price of up to $50 million. As of
September 30, 2018 , we have not sold any common stock pursuant to the sales agreement.
On May 7, 2018, we completed an underwritten follow-on public offering in which we sold 7,407,408 shares of common stock at $13.50 per share, as well as
1,111,111 additional shares of common stock pursuant to the full exercise of the over-allotment option granted to the underwriters. Net proceeds to the Company
were approximately $107.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.9 million and offering expenses of approximately $0.5 million.
As of September 30, 2018, we had $103.0 million in cash and cash equivalents. Our historical cash outflows have primarily been associated with research and
development activities, activities relating to commercialization and increases in working capital, including the expansion of our sales force and marketing
programs. In addition, we have used cash to fund the acquisitions of miraDry, BIOCORNEUM and our tissue expander portfolio.
To fund our ongoing operating and capital needs, we may need to raise additional equity or debt capital. We believe we have sufficient capital resources to continue
as a going concern through the next twelve months.
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Cash Flows
The following table shows a summary of our cash flows (used in) provided by operating, investing and financing activities for the periods indicated:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

(41,418)
(414)
118,252
76,420

$

$

(35,702)
(19,628)
25,759
(29,571)

Cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $41.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to $35.7 million during the nine months
ended September 30, 2017. The increase in cash used in operating activities between the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was primarily associated
with higher net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, an increase in accounts receivable due to the timing of sales and collections, an increase in
inventory following the FDA’s approval of our manufacturing site-change supplement and three PMA submissions in January and April 2018 in connection with
the Vesta facility as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017, partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued and other liabilities
due to the timing of payments.
Cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $0.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to $19.6 million during the nine months
ended September 30, 2017. The decrease in cash used in investing activities between the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was due to a decrease in
business acquisitions.
Cash provided by financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $118.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to $25.8 million during the nine
months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in cash provided by financing activities was primarily the result of proceeds from the public follow-on offering
and proceeds from borrowings under the Credit Agreements for the nine months ended September 30, 2018.
Our liquidity position and capital requirements are subject to a number of factors. For example, our cash inflow and outflow may be impacted by the following:
•

the ability of the Vesta facility to meet capacity to meet customer requirements;

•

net sales generated by our Breast Products and miraDry segments, and any other future products that we may develop and commercialize;

•

costs associated with expanding our sales force and marketing programs;

•

cost associated with developing and commercializing our proposed products or technologies;

•

expenses we incur in connection with potential litigation or governmental investigations;

•

cost of obtaining and maintaining regulatory clearance or approval for our current or future products;

•

cost of ongoing compliance with regulatory requirements, including compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley;
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•

anticipated or unanticipated capital expenditures; and

•

unanticipated G&A expenses.

Our primary short-term capital needs, which are subject to change, include expenditures related to:
•

support of our sales and marketing efforts related to our current and future products;

•

new product acquisition and development efforts;

•

facilities expansion needs;

•

investment in inventory required to meet customer demands; and

•

expenses we incur in connection with defending against litigation.

Although we believe the foregoing items reflect our most likely uses of cash in the short-term, we cannot predict with certainty all of our particular short-term cash
uses or the timing or amount of cash used. If cash generated from operations is insufficient to satisfy our working capital and capital expenditure requirements, we
may be required to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain credit facilities. Additional capital, if needed, may not be available on satisfactory terms, if at
all. Furthermore, any additional equity financing may be dilutive to stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may include restrictive covenants. For a
discussion of other factors that may impact our future liquidity and capital funding requirements, see “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Financial Results.”
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
As of September 30, 2018, except as discussed below, there have been no material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments outside the ordinary
course of business from those disclosed under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Contractual
Obligations” in the Annual Report, except as it relates to the timing of payments and interest under our obligations under our Credit Agreements. See Note 10 for
further discussion regarding our long-term debt and revolving loan.
Scheduled contractual obligations for the future payments of our term loan debt obligations as of September 30, 2018 were as follows (in thousands):
Payments Due by Period
Total

Term loan principle obligations

$

Less than 1 year

35,000

$

3,500

1 - 3 years
(in thousands)

$

31,500

More than
5 years

3 - 5 years

$

—

$

—

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
During the periods presented we did not have, nor do we currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined under SEC rules.
ITEM 3: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
As of September 30, 2018, we had $103.0 million in cash and cash equivalents. We generally hold our cash in checking accounts and interest-bearing money
market accounts. Our exposure to market risk related to interest rate sensitivity is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. Due to the shortterm maturities of our cash equivalents and the low risk profile of our investments, an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates would not have a material
effect on the fair market value of our cash equivalents. We have established guidelines regarding approved investments and maturities of investments, which are
designed to maintain safety and liquidity.
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ITEM 4: CONTR OLS AND PROCEDU RES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in our periodic and current reports that we file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our independent registered public accounting firm will first be required to attest to
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the first year we are no longer an “emerging growth
company” under the JOBS Act.
As of September 30, 2018 , we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial Officer, or CFO, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of such date.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting .
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings and regulatory proceedings arising out of our operations. We establish reserves for specific liabilities in
connection with legal actions that we deem to be probable and estimable. The ability to predict the ultimate outcome of such matters involves judgments, estimates,
and inherent uncertainties. The actual outcome of such matters could differ materially from management’s estimates. Information regarding certain legal
proceedings is provided in this Quarterly Report in Note 14 of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
SEC Agreement-in-Principle
In March 2018, we reached an Agreement-in-Principle, or the Agreement-in-Principle, with the Staff of the Division of Enforcement, or the Staff, of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, to settle, without admitting or denying, charges arising out of the SEC’s investigation into alleged false and
misleading statements or omissions made in connection with its follow-on public offering, or the Offering, that closed on September 23, 2015. Those charges
include alleged violations of Section 10 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, and Sections 17(a)(1)-(3) of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Staff previously informed us on March 1, 2018 that it was considering bringing charges against the Company related
to the Offering. A settlement would allow us to resolve those charges without protracted litigation, significant legal costs, and distracting management from driving
the business forward. To our knowledge, the SEC does not intend to charge any of our current officers or directors in connection with its investigation.
On September 19, 2018, the SEC issued an order, or the Order, approving the terms of the Agreement-in-Principle and fully and finally disposes of the
investigation of the Company by the SEC without any monetary component as previously disclosed. It also contains an order prohibiting future violations of the
securities laws.
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Neither the Company nor any current officers or directors admitted or denied or were r equired to admit or deny the allegations. The SEC does not allege that either
the Company or any current officers or directors acted with an intent to deceive investors.
Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the following risk factors, as well as the other information in this report, before deciding whether to purchase, hold or sell shares of
our common stock. The occurrence of any of the following risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or growth prospects or
cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this report and those we may make from time to
time. You should consider all of the risk factors described when evaluating our business. We have marked with an asterisk (*) those risk factors that reflect changes
from the risk factors included in Item 1A of the Annual Report.
Risks Relating to Our Business and Our Industry
The report of our independent registered public accounting firm included in our Annual Report contains an explanatory paragraph with respect to our
liquidity.*
As of September 30, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $103.0 million. Since inception, we have incurred recurring operating losses and
cash outflows from operations activities. We believe that we have the ability to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date our condensed
consolidated financial statements are issued. There can be no assurance, however, that we will not need to raise additional capital to continue to fund operations
which could negatively impact our ability to continue as a going concern .
We have incurred significant net operating losses since inception and cannot assure you that we will achieve profitability.
Since our inception, we have incurred significant net operating losses. As of September 30, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit of $337.5 million. To date, we
have financed our operations primarily through sales of preferred stock, borrowings under ou r term loans, sales of our products since 2012, our initial public
offering and follow-on public offerings of our common stock. We have devoted substantially all of our resources to the acquisition and clinical development of our
products, the commercial l aunch of our products, the development of a sales and marketing team and the assembly of a management team to manage our business.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, our net loss was $58.0 million. The extent of our future operating losses and the timing of profitability are
uncertain, especially in light of our inventory supply issues. We will need to generate significant sales to achieve profitability, and we might not be able to do so.
Even if we do generate significant sales, we might not be able to achieve, sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. If our sales
grow more slowly than we have forecasted, or if our operating expenses exceed our forecasts, our financial performance and results of operations will be adversely
affected.
We may not successfully integrate newly acquired businesses into our business operations or realize the benefits of partnerships with other companies,
acquisitions of complementary products or technologies or other strategic alternatives.
We have recently completed a series of business and product acquisitions including our acquisition of miraDry and our product acquisitions, including
BIOCORNEUM and our tissue expanders portfolio. As a result of these acquisitions, we have un dergone substantial changes to our business and product offerings
in a short period of time. In addition, in the future, we may consider other opportunities to partner with or acquire other businesses, products or technologies that
may enhance our product platform or technology, expand the breadth of our markets or customer base or advance our business strategies.
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Integrating the business practice and operations of a new business with that of our own is a complex, costly and time-consuming process, which re quires
significant management attention and resources. The integration process may disrupt our existing operations and, if implemented ineffectively, would preclude
realization of the full benefits expected by us. Our failure to meet the challenges involve d in successfully integrating our acquisitions in order to realize the
anticipated benefits may cause an interruption of, or a loss of momentum in, our operating activities and could adversely affect our results of operations. Potential
difficulties, costs and delays we may encounter as part of the integration process may include:
•

distracting management from day‑to‑day operations;

•

potential incompatibility of corporate cultures;

•

an inability to achieve synergies as planned;

•

risks associated with the assumption of contingent or other liabilities of acquisition targets;

•

adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers or customers;

•

inheriting and uncovering previously unknown issues, problems and costs from the acquired company;

•

uncertainties associated with entering new markets in which we have limited or no experience;

•

increased legal and accounting costs relating to the partnership or acquisition or compliance with regulatory matters;

•

delays between our expenditures to acquire new products, technologies or businesses and the generation of net sales from those acquired products,
technologies or businesses;

•

realization of assets and settlement of liabilities at amounts equal to estimated fair value as of the acquisition date of any acquisition or disposition;

•

costs and delays in implementing common systems and procedures (including technology, compliance programs, financial systems, distribution and
general business operations, among others); and

•

increased difficulties in managing our business due to the addition of international locations.

Any one or all of these factors may increase operating costs or lower anticipated financial performance. Many of these factors are also outside of our control. In
addition, even if new business operations are integrated successfully, we may not realize the full benefits of the acquisition, including the synergies, cost savings or
sales or growth opportunities that we expect or within the anticipated time frame. Additional unanticipated costs may be incurred in the integration of the
businesses. All of these factors could decrease or delay the expected accretive effect of the transaction, and negatively impact the price of our common stock. The
failure to integrate the business operations of miraDry or any acquired business successfully would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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In addition to integration related issues, the acquisition of miraDry has significantly increased the size of our business, augmenting a number of the risks included
in these risk factors. Future success depends, in part, upon our ability to manage this expanded business, which will pose substantial challenges for management.
There can be no assurance that we will be successfu l realizing the expected benefits from this acquisition.
We depend on a positive reaction from our Plastic Surgeons and their patients, and on an adequate supply of our products, to successfully re-establish our
market position and achieve profitability.*
Our Breast Products segment has historically accounted for substantially all of our net sales and we expect our Breast Products to continue to be a significant
portion of our net sales.
We depend on a continued positive reception from our Plastic Surgeo n customers and their patients to be able to reestablish the market position we had prior to the
voluntary suspension of our Breast Products manufactured by Silimed. Additionally, our re-entry into the market has required us to effectively and responsibly
educate accounts on the results of our testing and reconfirm our strong clinical data, while providing the same high levels of customer service to which our Plastic
Surgeons are accustomed. Our plastic surgery consultants are working diligently to solidify the confidence and support of all our Plastic Surgeons; however, if we
are not successful in re-establishing and maintaining these relationships or competing effectively in this market, our sales revenues, market share and financial
performance will be af fected negatively.
Any inability to manage inventory supply issues, an inadequacy of current inventory levels, the potential loss of market acceptance of our Breast Products, or any
adverse rulings by regulatory authorities, any adverse publicity or other adverse events relating to us or our Breast Products, or the introduction of competitive
products by our competitors and other third parties, would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If the market acceptance for the miraDry System, which has a limited commercial history , fails to grow significantly, our business and future prospects will be
harmed.*
Commercial sales of the miraDry System commenced in the United States in 2012. We expec t that the net sales we generate from our miraDry System and bioTips
will represent high margin sales (on a gross margin basis) and account for a substantial amount of our net sales for the next several years, with high margin
consumables comprising a sizable percentage of our miraDry segment’s net sales. Accordingly, our success depends on the acceptance among physicians and
patients of the miraDry procedure as a preferred treatment for being sweat-bothered. Although we have received FDA clearance to marke t the miraDry procedure
for the treatment of primary axillary hyperhidrosis and permanent hair reduction in the United States and are approved or are otherwise free to market the miraDry
procedure in over 40 international markets, the degree of market acceptance of the miraDry procedure by physicians and patients is unproven. We believe that
market acceptance of the miraDry procedure will depend on many factors, including:
•

the perceived advantages or disadvantages of the miraDry System compared to other products and procedures;

•

the safety and efficacy of the miraDry System relative to other products and alternative procedures;

•

the price of the miraDry System relative to other products and alternative procedures;

•

our success in expanding our sales and marketing organization;

•

the effectiveness of our marketing, advertising, and commercialization initiatives;

•

the development and publication of long-term clinical data in peer-reviewed journals supporting the long term efficacy of the miraDry procedure;
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•

o ur abilit y to obtain regulatory clearance to market miraDry for additional treatment indications in the United States and other international markets;

•

education of physicians, especially general practitioners and dermatologists, regarding alternative procedures for sweat-bothered patients through key
opinion leaders and product demonstrations at conferences, physician offices and webinars; and

•

the success of patient education through direct-to-consumer marketing campaigns that utilize social media outlets and testimonials.

We cannot guarantee that the miraDry System will achieve broad market acceptance among physicians and patients. We expect to derive a substantial portion of
sales from the miraDry Systems and the sale of our consumable bioTip products, which represent higher margin products (e.g., 50% - 90% gross margin) within
our product portfolio. As a result, any failure of this product to achieve meaningful market acceptance will harm our business, sales, profitability and future
prospects.
We rely on sole suppliers to manufacture some of our products, including our breast implants and our scar management, tissue expander and bioTips products,
and any production problems or inability to meet our demand could adversely affect our business prospects.*
We rely on sole suppliers to manufacture certain of our products or the components used therein, and the loss of any such supplier or any disruption in operations,
production problems or inability to meet our supply demands of any such supplier could have a material adverse and severe effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Additionally, there can be no guarantees that we would be able to replace or transition to alternative suppliers on a timely basis
or at all, if needed. If we are required to replace any of our sole suppliers, or transition to alternative suppliers, it may adversely impact our operations.
For example, we have entered into a definitive manufacturing agreement with Vesta and have qualified Vesta as our sole manufacturer for sourcing our breast
implants. In January 2018, the FDA granted approval of the site-change PMA supplement for Vesta to manufacture our silicone gel breast implants. In support of
the move to the Vesta manufacturing facility, we also implemented new manufacturing process improvements which, in consultation with the FDA, required three
(3) additional submissions. These submissions were approved by the FDA on January 10, 2018, January 19, 2018 and April 17, 2018. With these approvals, we
have re-launched our breast implant business and intend to scale our supply of implants by increasing the quantity of products manufactured by Vesta into the
second half of 2018. If Vesta is unable to scale its manufacturing operations to meet our requirements into the second half of 2018 or in any future period, or if
there are any delays or disruptions in manufacturing or delivering the implants, we may not be able to achieve our anticipated sales levels and our net sales and
business prospects could suffer significantly. In addition, if Vesta were to terminate or otherwise fail to perform under the definitive manufacturing agreement, or if
the FDA were to determine that Vesta does not meet its strict regulatory requirements in the future, we would need to ide ntify and qualify another alternate
manufacturer, which would require a significant amount of time and resources and result in a supply interruption.
There are numerous risks in relying on sole suppliers to manufacture our products, which, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse and severe
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Direct-to-consumer marketing and social media effort may expose us to additional regulatory scrutiny.*
Our efforts to promote our products via direct-to-consumer marketing and social media initiatives may subject us to additional scrutiny of our practices of effective
communication of risk information, benefits or claims, under the oversight of the FDA, FTC, or both.
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Contracti ng with any third-party manufacturer and supplier involves inherent risks and various factors outside our direct control that may adversely affect the
manufacturing and supply of our products.
Our reliance on any third-party manufacturer, including Vesta, Formulated Solutions, LLC, or Formulated Solutions, which supplies our BIOCORNEUM scar
management products, SiMatrix, a Vesta subsidiary that supplies the tissue expanders, Healthcare Technology International which supplies bioTips for our miraDry
System o r any other third-party manufacturer we procure and qualify for the manufacture of our Breast Products or miraDry Products involves a number of risks.
Changes that our manufacturers may make outside the purview of our direct control, or other mistakes and mishandling of our products, can have an impact on our
processes and quality, as well as the successful delivery of our products. Additionally, if any third-party manufacturer becomes unable or unwilling to supply our
products, we may not be able to find an alternate supplier in a timely manner. For example, there are only a few suppliers of medical-grade silicone available, and if
these suppliers become unable or unwilling to supply medical-grade silicone to Vesta, Formulated Solutions, SiMatrix or any other manufacturer that we may
engage with, an alternate supply of medical-grade silicone may not be able to be found in a timely manner. Our existing manufacturing contracts will also expire,
and there can be no assurance that our contracting counterparties will agree to continue to manufacture and supply our products or they may impose increased
pricing terms if the contract is renegotiated or renewed.
Some of the additional risks with relying on third-party manufacturers and suppliers include:
•

our products may not be manufactured in accordance with agreed upon specifications or in compliance with regulatory requirements or cGMP, or the
manufacturing facilities may not be able to maintain compliance with regulatory requirements or cGMP, which could negatively affect the safety or
efficacy of our products or cause delays in shipments of our products;

•

we may not be able to timely respond to unanticipated changes in customer orders, and if orders do not match forecasts, we may have excess or
inadequate inventory of materials and components;

•

our products may be mishandled while in production or in preparation for transit;

•

we are subject to transportation and import and export risk, particularly given the global nature of our supply chain;

•

the third-party manufacturer may discontinue manufacturing and supplying products to us for risk management reasons;

•

the third-party manufacturer may lose access to critical services and components, resulting in an interruption in the manufacturing or shipment of our
products;

•

the third-party manufacturer may encounter financial or other hardships unrelated to us and our demand for products, which could inhibit our ability to
fulfill our orders;

•

there may be delays in analytical results or failure of analytical techniques that we depend on for quality control and release of products;

•

natural disasters, labor disputes, financial distress, lack of raw material supply, issues with facilities and equipment or other forms of disruption to
business operations affecting our manufacturer or its suppliers may occur;

•

latent defects may become apparent after products have been released and which may result in a recall of such products; and

•

there are inherent risks if we contract with manufacturers located outside of the United States, including the risks of economic change, recession, labor
strikes or disruptions, political turmoil, new or changing tariffs or trade barriers, new or different restrictions on importing or exporting, civil unrest,
infrastructure failure, cultural differences in doing business, lack of contract enforceability, lack of protection for intellectual property, war and
terrorism.
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The materialization of any of these risks and limitations inherent in a third-party manufacturing contractual relationship could signif icantly increase our costs,
impair our ability to generate net sales, and adversely affect market acceptance of our products and customers may instead purchase or use our competitors’
products, which could materially adversely and severely affect our busin ess, financial condition and results of operations.
We have a limited operating history and may face difficulties encountered by companies early in their commercialization in competitive and rapidly evolving
markets.
We commenced operations in 2007 and began commercializing silicone gel breast implants in the second quarter of 2012. Accordingly, we have a limited
operating history upon which to evaluate our business and forecast our future net sales and operating results. In assessing our business prospects, you should
consider the various risks and difficulties frequently encountered by companies early in their commercialization in competitive markets, particularly companies that
develop and sell medical devices. These risks include our ability to:
•

implement and execute our business strategy;

•

expand and improve the productivity of our sales force and marketing programs to grow sales of our existing and proposed products;

•

increase awareness of our brand and build loyalty among Plastic Surgeons;

•

manage expanding operations;

•

respond effectively to competitive pressures and developments;

•

enhance our existing products and develop new products;

•

obtain regulatory clearance or approval to enhance our existing products and commercialize new products;

•

perform clinical trials with respect to our existing products and any new products; and

•

attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel in various areas of our business.

Due to our limited operating history, we may not have the institutional knowledge or experience to be able to effectively address these and other risks that we may
face. In addition, we may not be able to develop insights into trends that could emerge and negatively affect our business and may fail to respond effectively to
those trends. As a result of these or other risks, we may not be able to execute key components of our business strategy, and our business, financial condition and
operating results may suffer.
If we fail to compete effectively against our competitors, some of which have significantly greater resources than we have, our net sales and operating results
may be negatively affected.
Our industry is intensely competitive and subject to rapid change from the introduction of new products, technologies and other activities of industry
participants. For example, our Breast Products competitors, Mentor, a wholly owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson, and Allergan are well-capitalized global
pharmaceutical companies that have been the market leaders for many years and have the majority share of the breast implant market in the United States. These
competitors also enjoy several competitive advantages over us, including:
•

greater financial and human resources for sales, marketing and product development;

•

established relationships with health care providers and third-party payors;

•

established reputations and name recognition among health care providers and other key opinion leaders in the plastic surgery industry;
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•

in some cases, an established base of long-time customers;

•

greater financial resources and economies-of-scale to put additional pricing pressure on competing products;

•

products supported by long-term clinical data;

•

larger and more established distribution networks;

•

greater ability to cross-sell products; and

•

more experience in conducting research and development, manufacturing, performing clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approval or clearance.

If we fail to compete effectively against our competitors, our net sales and operating results may be negatively affected.
The long-term safety of our Breast Products has not fully been established and our breast implants are currently under study in our PMA post-approval
studies, which could reveal unanticipated complications.
We have been marketing our silicone gel breast implants in the United States with pre-market approval from the FDA since 2012. However, there could still be
unanticipated complications or unforeseen health consequences of being implanted with our silicone gel breast implants over the long-term (defined as 10 years or
more). Additionally, we rely on our clinical data to make favorable comparisons of our product to our competitive products, and our longer-term data may change
over time. Further, future studies or clinical experience may indicate that treatment with our products is not differentiated to treatment with competitive products.
Such results could slow the adoption of our products and significantly reduce our sales, which could prevent us from achieving our forecasted sales targets or
achieving or sustaining profitability. Moreover, if long-term results and experience indicate that our products cause unexpected or serious complications, we could
be subject to mandatory product recalls, suspension or withdrawal of clearance or approval by the FDA or other applicable regulatory bodies and significant legal
liability.
Among the long-term health risks of breast implants which are being studied and followed, health regulators believe there is an association between breast
implants and a rare form of lymphoma called anaplastic large-cell lymphoma.
In January 2011, the FDA issued a Safety Communication indicating that there was a possible association between saline and silicone gel breast implants and
anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, or BIA-ALCL. Since our FDA approval in 2012, Sientra’s breast-implant product labeling, which is approved by the FDA, has
been required to contain a description of BIA-ALCL as a possible, though “rare,” outcome. Since its report in January 2011, the FDA has continued to gather
information about BIA-ALCL in women with breast implants through the review of medical device reports, review of medical literature, and collaboration with
international regulators, scientific experts, ASPS, ASAPS, ISAPS, and other organizations.
As of August 23, 2017, the FDA updated its recommendations on BIA-ALCL and subsequently requested all breast implant manufacturers to revise their physician
and patient labeling with the most up-to-date information. The FDA still describes BIA-ALCL as “rare” and states: “we have strengthened our understanding of
this condition and concur with the World Health Organization designation of breast implant-associated anaplastic large cell lymphoma (BIA-ALCL) as a rare T-cell
lymphoma that can develop following breast implants. The exact number of cases remains difficult to determine due to significant limitations in world-wide
reporting and lack of global implant sales data . At this time, most data suggest that BIA-ALCL occurs more frequently following implantation of breast implants
with textured surfaces rather than those with smooth surfaces.” The FDA noted it does not recommend prophylactic breast implant removal in a patient without
symptoms or other abnormality.
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Further studies or clinical experience may indicate that breast implants, including our products, expose individuals to a more substantial risk of developing BIAALCL or other unexpected complications than currently anticipated. As a result, we may be expo sed to increased regulatory scrutiny, negative publicity and
lawsuits from any individual who may develop BIA-ALCL after using our products, any of which could have a significant negative impact on our results of
operations or financial condition. Moreover , if long-term results and clinical experience indicate that our products cause unexpected or serious complications, we
could be subject to mandatory product recalls, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory clearances and approvals and significant legal lia bility.
If we are unable to train Plastic Surgeons on the safe and appropriate use of our products, we may be unable to achieve our expected growth.*
An important part of our sales process includes the ability to train Plastic Surgeons on the safe and appropriate use of our breast products. If we become unable to
attract potential new Plastic Surgeon customers to our education and training programs, we may be unable to achieve our expected growth.
There is a learning process involved for Plastic Surgeons to become proficient in the use of our anatomically-shaped products. It is critical to the success of our
commercialization efforts to train a sufficient number of Plastic Surgeons and provide them with adequate instruction in the appropriate use of our products via
preceptorships and additional demonstration surgeries. This training process may take longer than expected and may therefore affect our ability to increase
sales. Following completion of training, we rely on the trained Plastic Surgeons to advocate the benefits of our products in the marketplace. Convincing Plastic
Surgeons to dedicate the time and energy necessary for adequate training is challenging, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in these efforts. If
Plastic Surgeons are not properly trained, they may misuse or ineffectively use our products. This may also result in, among other things, unsatisfactory patient
outcomes, patient injury, negative publicity or lawsuits against us, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business and reputation.
If we are unable to continue to enhance our existing product offerings and develop and market new products that respond to customer needs and preferences
and achieve market acceptance, we may experience a decrease in demand for our products and our business could suffer.*
We may not be able to compete effectively with our competitors, and ultimately satisfy the needs and preferences of our customers, unless we can continue to
enhance existing products and develop and market new innovative products. Product development requires the investment of significant financial, technological
and other resources. Product improvements and new product introductions also require significant planning, design, development and testing at the technological,
product and manufacturing process levels and may involve additional clinical trials and we may not be able to timely develop product improvements or new
products. Our competitors’ new products may beat our products to market, be more effective with new features, obtain better market acceptance or render our
products obsolete. Any new or modified products that we develop may not receive clearance or approval from the FDA, or achieve market acceptance or otherwise
generate any meaningful sales or profits for us relative to our expectations based on, among other things, existing and anticipated investments in manufacturing
capacity and commitments to fund advertising, marketing, promotional programs and research and development.
Laws impacting the U.S. healthcare system are subject to a great deal of uncertainty, which may result in adverse consequences to our business.
There have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the healthcare system, reduce the costs of healthcare and change medical
reimbursement policies. Doctors, clinics, hospitals and other users of our products may decline to purchase our products to the extent there is uncertainty regarding
coverage from government or commercial payors. Further proposed legislation, regulation and policy changes affecting third-party reimbursement are likely.
Among other things, Congress has in the past proposed changes to and the repeal of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care and Health Care and Education
Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the Affordable Care Act), and lawsuits have been brought challenging aspects of the law at various points.
There have been repeated recent attempts by Congress to repeal or replace the Affordable Care Act. Some of the provisions of the ACA have yet to be
implemented, and there have been legal and political challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. Since January 2017, President Trump has signed two executive
orders and other directives designed to delay, circumvent, or loosen certain requirements mandated by the ACA. Concurrently, Congress has considered legislation
that would repeal and replace all or part of the ACA. While Congress has previously been successful at passing comprehensive repeal legislation through both
Chambers of Congress, it had then been vetoed by former
50

President Obama; however full repeal legislation is unlikely in the current political climate. Furthermore, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act passed in December of 2017
included a provision that would re peal one of the primary pillars of the law, the ACA’s individual mandate penalty that essentially assessed a monetary penalty or
fine on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year. Congress may consider o ther legislation to repeal or replace
elements of the ACA on a provision-by-provision basis. We are unable to predict what legislation or regulation, if any, relating to the health care industry or thirdparty coverage and reimbursement may be enacted in t he future at the state or federal level, or what effect such legislation or regulation may have on us. Denial of
coverage and reimbursement of our products, or the revocation or changes to coverage and reimbursement policies, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
If changes in the economy and consumer spending reduce consumer demand for our products, our sales and profitability would suffer.*
We are subject to the risks arising from adverse changes in general economic and market conditions. Certain elective procedures, such as breast augmentation, are
typically not covered by insurance. Adverse changes in the economy may cause consumers to reassess their spending choices and reduce the demand f or these
surgeries and other procedures and could have an adverse effect on consumer spending. This shift could have an adverse effect on our net sales and profitability.
Furthermore, consumer preferences and trends may shift due to a variety of factors, including changes in demographic and social trends, public health initiatives
and product innovations, which may reduce consumer demand for our products.
Any negative publicity concerning our products could harm our business and reputation and negatively impact our financial results.
The responses of potential patients, physicians, the news media, legislative and regulatory bodies and others to information about complications or alleged
complications of our products could result in negative publicity and could materially reduce market acceptance of our products. These responses or any
investigations and potential resulting negative publicity may have a material adverse effect on our business and reputation and negatively impact our financial
condition, results of operations or the market price of our common stock. In addition, significant negative publicity could result in an increased number of product
liability claims against us.
We are required to maintain high levels of inventory, which could consume a significant amount of our resources and reduce our cash flows.
We need to maintain substantial levels of inventory to protect ourselves from supply interruptions, provide our customers with a wide range of shapes and sizes of
our breast implants, and account for the high return rates we experience as Plastic Surgeons typically order our products in multiple sizes for a single surgery and
then return what they do not use. As a result of the substantial inventory levels we like to maintain, we are subject to the risk that a substantial portion of our
inventory becomes obsolete. The materialization of any of these risks may have a material adverse effect on our earnings and cash flows due to the resulting costs
associated with the inventory impairment charges and costs required to replace such inventory. Additionally, our ability to find an alternate supplier in a timely
manner, may affect our ability to maintain the level of inventory supply we require to protect ourselves from supply interruptions that could have an unfavorable
impact on our net sales.
Any disruption at our facilities could adversely affect our business and operating results.
Our principal offices are located in Santa Barbara, California. Substantially all of our operations are conducted at this location, including customer service,
development and management and administrative functions. Substantially all of our inventory of Breast Products is held at a second location in Santa Barbara,
California, and we manufacture, distribute, and service our miraDry Systems at a third location in Santa Clara, California. Despite our efforts to safeguard our
facilities, including acquiring insurance, adopting health and safety protocols and utilizing off-site storage of computer data, vandalism, terrorism or a natural or
other disaster, such as an earthquake, fire or flood, could damage or destroy our inventory of finished goods, cause substantial delays in our operations, result in the
loss of key information and cause us to incur additional expenses. Our insurance may not cover our losses in any particular case. In addition, regardless of the
level of insurance coverage, damage to our facilities may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.
51

If there are significant disruptions in our information technology systems, our business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely a ffected.
The efficient operation of our business depends on our information technology systems. We rely on our information technology systems to effectively manage
sales and marketing data, accounting and financial functions, inventory, product development tasks, clinical data, and customer service and technical support
functions. Our information technology systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, fires, floods and other natural disasters, terrorist attacks,
computer viruses or hackers, power losses, and computer system or data network failures. In addition, a variety of our software systems are cloud-based data
management applications hosted by third-party service providers whose security and information technology systems are subject to similar risks.
The failure of our or our service providers’ information technology could disrupt our entire operation or result in decreased sales, increased overhead costs and
product shortages, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition and operating results.
We may be adversely affected by earthquakes or other natural disasters and our business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect us
from a serious disaster.*
Our corporate headquarters and certain other facilities are located in Santa Barbara, California, which in the past has experienced both severe earthquakes and
wildfires. Earthquakes, wildfires or other natural disasters could severely disrupt our operations, and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.
If a natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our headquarters, that damaged critical
infrastructure, such as our enterprise financial systems or manufacturing resource planning and enterprise quality systems, or that otherwise disrupted operations, it
may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. The disaster recovery and business continuity plans
we have in place currently are limited and are unlikely to prove adequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event. We may incur substantial expenses as a
result of the limited nature of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Failure to obtain hospital or group purchasing organization contracts could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results.
A portion of our net sales is derived from sales to hospitals. Many hospital customers, through the contracting process, limit the number of breast implant suppliers
that may sell to their institution. Hospitals may choose to contract with our competitors who have a broader range of products that can be used in a wider variety of
procedures or our competitors may actively position their broader product portfolios against us during the hospital contracting process. Any limitations on the
number of hospitals to which we can sell our products may significantly restrict our ability to grow.
In addition, contracts with hospitals and group purchasing organizations, or GPOs, often have complex insurance and indemnification requirements, which may not
be beneficial to us, or we may not be able to successfully negotiate contracts with a substantial number of hospitals and GPOs at all, which could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our business could suffer if we lose the services of key personnel or are unable to attract and retain additional qualified personnel.
We are dependent upon the continued services of key personnel, including members of our executive management team who have extensive experience in our
industry. The loss of any one of these individuals could disrupt our operations or our strategic plans. Additionally, our future success will depend on, among other
things, our ability to continue to hire and retain the necessary qualified sales, marketing and managerial personnel, for whom we compete with numerous other
companies, academic institutions and organizations. If we lose key employees, if we are unable to attract or retain other qualified personnel, or if our management
team is not able to effectively manage us through these events, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected.
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We will need to increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficult ies in managing growth.
As of September 30, 2018, we had approximately 231 full-time employees. Our management and personnel, and the systems and facilities we currently have in
place, may not be adequate to support future growth. Effectively executing our growth strategy requires that we increase net sales through sales and marketing
activities, recruit and retain additional employees and continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures. If
we are not able to effectively expand our organization in these ways, we may not be able to successfully execute our growth strategy, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations may suffer.
We are subject to political, economic and regulatory risks associated with doing business outside of the United States.*
As a result of our acquisition of miraDry, we now face new risks inherent in conducting business internationally, including compliance with international and U.S.
laws and regulations that apply to international operations. We are able to market and sell the miraDry System in over 40 international markets outside of North
America, including countries in Asia, Europe, the Middle East and South America. In addition, we may seek to market and sell the miraDry System in additional
countries, as well as seek approval to market and sell our breast products in international markets, in the future. These laws and regulations are complex, and there
is a risk that some provisions may be breached by us, for example through fraudulent or negligent behavior of individual employees, our failure to comply with
certain formal documentation requirements, or otherwise. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us, our officers
or our employees, requirements to obtain export licenses, implementation of compliance programs, and prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Any such
violations could include prohibitions on our ability to offer our products in one or more countries and could damage our reputation, our brand, our international
expansion efforts, our ability to attract and retain employees, our business and our operating results.
In addition to the foregoing, engaging in international business inherently involves a number of other difficulties and risks, including:
•

longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;

•

political and economic instability or sanctions in areas in which we operate;

•

potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, customs charges, bureaucratic requirements and other trade barriers;

•

regulations related to customs and import/export matters;

•

tax issues, including tax law changes and compliance with other tax laws;

•

compliance with complex transfer pricing regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions resulting from our intercompany
arrangements, if any;

•

challenges in collecting accounts receivable from customers in the jurisdictions in which we operate;

•

complying with laws, rules and regulations relating to the manufacturing, marketing, distribution and sale of products in the jurisdictions in which we
do or will operate;

•

operating under regulations in jurisdictions related to obtaining eligibility for government or private payor reimbursement for our products at the
wholesale/retail level;
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•

difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations, including cultural and language differences and add itional employment regulations,
union workforce negotiations and potential disputes in the jurisdictions in which we operate;

•

difficulties associated with compliance with a variety of laws and regulations governing international trade, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act;

•

difficulties protecting or procuring intellectual property rights; and

•

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

These factors or any combination of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Risks Related to Our Financial Results
Our debt obligations could impair our financial condition and limit our operating flexibility.*
Our indebtedness under our credit agreements with MidCap Financial Trust, or the Credit Agreements, and our other financial obligations could:
•

impair our ability to obtain financing or additional debt in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or general corporate
purposes;

•

impair our ability to access capital and credit markets on terms that are favorable to us;

•

have a material adverse effect on us if we fail to comply with financial and affirmative and restrictive covenants in our Credit Agreements and an event
of default occurs as a result of a failure that is not cured or waived;

•

require us to dedicate a portion of our cash flow for interest payments on our indebtedness and other financial obligations, thereby reducing the
availability of our cash flow to fund working capital and capital expenditures; and

•

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate.

There is no guarantee that we will be able to pay the principal and interest under the Credit Agreements or that future working capital, b orrowings or equity
financing will be available to repay or refinance any amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreements. Our obligations under the Credit Agreements are secured
by a perfected security interest in all of our tangible and intangible assets (including our intellectual property assets), except for certain customary excluded
property and all of our and our subsidiaries capital stock, with certain limited exceptions. In addition, we may enter into debt agreements in the future that may
contain similar or more burdensome terms and covenants, including financial covenants.
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Our quarterly net sales and operating results are unpredictable and may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter due to factors outside our control,
which could adversel y affect our business, results of operations and the trading price of our common stock.*
Our net sales and operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year due to a number of factors, many of which are outside of our
control and any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate. Our net sales and results of operations will be affected by numerous factors, including:
•

the length of time it took to qualify Vesta with the FDA and the availability of any alternative manufacturing sources to supply our silicone gel breast
implants and certain other products;

•

our ability to integrate and achieve the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions of miraDry, BIOCORNEUM and our tissue expander portfolio;

•

the impact of the buying patterns of patients and seasonal cycles in consumer spending;

•

our ability to drive increased sales of breast implant products, miraDry System and bioTips;

•

our ability to establish and maintain an effective and dedicated sales organization;

•

pricing pressure applicable to our products, including adverse third-party coverage and reimbursement outcomes;

•

results of clinical research and trials on our existing products;

•

the impact of the past regulatory inquiries of Silimed on our brand and reputation;

•

timing of our research and development activities and initiatives;

•

the mix of our products sold due to different profit margins among our products;

•

timing of new product offerings, acquisitions, licenses or other significant events by us or our competitors;

•

the ability of our suppliers to timely provide us with an adequate supply of products;

•

the evolving product offerings of our competitors;

•

regulatory approvals and legislative changes affecting the products we may offer or those of our competitors;

•

increased labor and related costs;

•

interruption in the manufacturing or distribution of our products;

•

the effect of competing technological, industry and market developments;

•

changes in our ability to obtain regulatory clearance or approval for our products; and

•

our ability to expand the geographic reach of our sales and marketing efforts.
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Many of the products we may seek to develop and introduce in the future will require FDA approval or clearance before commercialization in the United States,
and commercialization of such p roducts outside of the United States would likely require additional regulatory approvals, CE Certificates of Conformity and
export licenses. As a result, it will be difficult for us to forecast demand for these products with any degree of certainty. In addition, we will be increasing our
operating expenses as we expand our commercial capabilities. Accordingly, we may experience significant, unanticipated quarterly losses. If our quarterly or
annual operating results fall below the expectations of inves tors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Furthermore, any
quarterly or annual fluctuations in our operating results may, in turn, cause the price of our common stock to fluctuate substantially. We believe th at quarterly
comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of our future performance.
Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.*
As of September 30, 2018, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of approximately $334 million, which begin expiring in 2027, if not utilized
to offset taxable income. In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes an
“ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset future taxable income. In general, an “ownership change” occurs
if there is a cumulative change in our ownership by “5% shareholders” that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Our existing NOLs may
be subject to limitations arising from previous ownership changes, and if we undergo one or more ownership changes in connection with future transactions in our
stock, our ability to utilize NOLs could be further limited by Section 382 of the Code. In addition, the deduction for NOLs generated after 2017 is limited to 80%
of our taxable income. As a result of these limitations, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of the NOLs reflected on our condensed consolidated
balance sheet. Our deferred tax assets for net operating loss carryforwards have been offset by a full valuation allowance in our financial statements. Based on our
Section 382 analysis as of May 7, 2018, we concluded that miraDry’s available NOLs are approximately $95 million, while Sientra is not subject to any such
limitation under Section 382 at this time.
Future changes in financial accounting standards may cause adverse unexpected net sales or expense fluctuations and affect our reported results of
operations.
A change in accounting standards could have a significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the
change is effective. New pronouncements and varying interpretations of existing pronouncements have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing
rules or current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results of our business.
Our results of operations and financial position could be negatively impacted if there are adverse changes in tax laws and regulations.*
We could be adversely affected in the future by changes in applicable tax laws, regulations, or administrative interpretations thereof. On December 22, 2017,
President Trump signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which provides for significant changes in the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act contains provisions with separate effective dates but is generally effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017. This change
to the U.S. tax system, as well as a change to the tax system in a jurisdiction where we have significant operations, or a change in tax law in other jurisdictions
where we do business, could have a material and adverse effect on our business and on the results of our operations. We expect that the ultimate impact of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act on our reported results in 2018 and beyond will not be material. However, the actual impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act may differ from our
expectations and estimates, possibly materially, due to, among other things, changes in interpretations and assumptions we have made, guidance that may be issued,
and other actions we may take as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act different from that presently contemplated.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Potential Litigation
If our intellectual property rights do not adequately protect our products or technologies, others could compete against us more directly, which would hurt our
profitability.
Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of trademarks, trade secrets, confidential
information, copyrights, patent rights and other intellectual property rights to protect our intellectual property. In addition, to protect our trade secrets, confidential
information and other intellectual property rights, we have entered into confidentiality agreements with third parties, and confidential information and invention
assignment agreements with employees, consultants and advisors. However, these agreements may not provide sufficient protection or adequate remedies for
violation of our rights in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential and proprietary information. Without additional protection under the patent or
other intellectual property laws, such unauthorized use or disclosure may enable competitors to duplicate or surpass our technological achievements. Moreover, the
laws of certain foreign countries do not recognize intellectual property rights or protect them to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. Failure to
protect our proprietary rights could seriously impair our competitive position.
The medical device industry is characterized by patent and other intellectual property litigation and we have and could become subject to litigation that could
be costly, result in the diversion of management’s time and efforts, require us to pay damages or prevent us from marketing our existing or future products.
Our commercial success will depend in part on not infringing the patents or violating the other proprietary rights of others. Significant litigation regarding patent
rights occurs in our industry. Our competitors in both the United States and abroad, many of which have substantially greater resources and have made substantial
investments in patent portfolios and competing technologies, may have applied for or obtained or may in the future apply for and obtain, patents that will prevent,
limit or otherwise interfere with our ability to make, use and sell our products. Absent specific circumstances, we do not generally conduct independent reviews of
patents issued to third parties. We may not be aware of whether our products do or will infringe existing or future patents. In addition, patent applications in the
United States and elsewhere can be pending for many years, and may be confidential for 18 months or more after filing, and because pending patent claims can be
revised before issuance, there may be applications of others now pending of which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that will prevent, limit or
otherwise interfere with our ability to make, use or sell our products. We may not be aware of patents that have already been issued that a third party might assert
are infringed by our products. It is also possible that patents of which we are aware, but which we do not believe are relevant to our product candidates, could
nevertheless be found to be infringed by our products. The large number of patents, the rapid rate of new patent applications and issuances, the complexities of the
technology involved and the uncertainty of litigation increase the risk of business assets and management’s attention being diverted to patent litigation. In the
future, we may receive communications from various industry participants alleging our infringement of their patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property
rights and/or offering licenses to such intellectual property. Any lawsuits resulting from such allegations could subject us to significant liability for damages and
invalidate our proprietary rights, even if they lack merit. Any existing or potential intellectual property litigation also could force us to do one or more of the
following:
•

stop making, selling or using products or technologies that allegedly infringe the asserted intellectual property;

•

lose the opportunity to license our technology to others or to collect royalty payments based upon successful protection and assertion of our intellectual
property rights against others;

•

incur significant legal expenses;

•

pay substantial damages or royalties to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing;

•

pay the attorney fees and costs of litigation to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing;
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•

redesign those products that contain the allegedly infringi ng intellectual property, which could be costly, disruptive and/or infeasible; or

•

attempt to obtain a license to the relevant intellectual property from third parties, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all.

Any litigation or claim against us, even those without merit, may cause us to incur substantial costs, and could place a significant strain on our financial resources,
divert the attention of management from our core business, negatively impact shareholder value and harm our reputation. If we are found to infringe the
intellectual property rights of third parties, we could be required to pay substantial damages (which may be increased up to three times of awarded damages) and/or
substantial royalties and could be prevented from selling our products unless we obtain a license or are able to redesign our products to avoid infringement. Any
such license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all, and there can be no assurance that we would be able to redesign our products in a way that would
not infringe the intellectual property rights of others. If we fail to obtain any required licenses or make any necessary changes to our products or technologies, we
may have to withdraw existing products from the market or may be unable to commercialize one or more of our products, all of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, we generally indemnify our customers with respect to infringement by our products of the proprietary rights of third parties. Third parties may assert
infringement claims against our customers. These claims may require us to initiate or defend protracted and costly litigation on behalf of our customers, regardless
of the merits of these claims. If any of these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our customers or may be required to obtain licenses for
the products they use. If we cannot obtain all necessary licenses on commercially reasonable terms, our customers may be forced to stop using our products.
We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our competitors or are
in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with our competitors.
Many of our employees were previously employed at other medical device companies, including our competitors or potential competitors, in some cases until
recently. We have been the subject of and may, in the future, be subject to claims that we, or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed
alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of these former employers or competitors. In addition, we have been and may in the future be subject to
claims that we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her non-competition or non-solicitation agreement. Litigation may be necessary to defend against
these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. If
our defense to those claims fails, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Any litigation or the
threat thereof may adversely affect our ability to hire employees. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to
commercialize product candidates, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We are and may be subject to warranty or product liability claims or other litigation in the ordinary course of business that may adversely affect our business,
financial condition and operating results.*
As a supplier of medical devices, we are and may be subject to warranty or product liability claims alleging that the use of our products has resulted in adverse
health effects or other litigation in the ordinary course of business that may require us to make significant expenditures to defend these claims or pay damage
awards. The breast implant industry has a particularly significant history of product liability litigation. The risks of litigation exist even with respect to products
that have received or in the future may receive regulatory approval for commercial sale, such as our Breast Products. In addition, our silicone gel breast implants
are sold with a warranty providing for no-charge replacement implants in the event of certain ruptures that occur any time during the life of the patient and this
warranty also includes cash payments to offset surgical fees if the rupture occurs within ten years of implantation. In April 2018, we announced our Platinum20
product replacement and limited warranty program, which we believe provides an industry-leading program of no-charge replacement implants for covered rupture
events that occur during the lifetime of the patient, and no-charge replacement implants for other covered events that occur within twenty years of the implant
procedure, as well as financial assistance for certain qualifying events that occur within twenty years of the implant procedure. If we experience an increase in
warranty claims following the launch of our Platinum20 product in excess of our expectations, or if our replacement costs associated with warranty claims increase
significantly, we will incur liabilities for potential warranty claims that may be greater than we expect. An increase in the frequency of warranty claims or amount
of warranty costs may harm our reputation and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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We maintain product liability insurance, but this insurance is limited in amount and subject to significant deductibles. There is no guarantee that insurance will be
ava ilable or adequate to protect against all claims. Our insurance policies are subject to annual renewal and we may not be able to obtain liability insurance in the
future on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, our insurance premiums could be subject to increases in the future, which may be material. If the coverage limits
are inadequate to cover our liabilities or our insurance costs continue to increase as a result of warranty or product liability claims or other litigation, then our
business, finan cial condition and operating results may be adversely affected.
Fluctuations in insurance cost and availability could adversely affect our profitability or our risk management profile.
We hold a number of insurance policies, including product liability insurance, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, general liability insurance, property
insurance, employment practices, and workers’ compensation insurance. If the costs of maintaining adequate insurance coverage increase significantly in the
future, our operating results could be materially adversely affected. Likewise, if any of our current insurance coverage should become unavailable to us or become
economically impractical, we would be required to operate our business without indemnity from commercial insurance providers. If we operate our business
without insurance, we could be responsible for paying claims or judgments against us that would have otherwise been covered by insurance, which could adversely
affect our results of operations or financial condition.
Risks Related to Our Legal and Regulatory Environment
We are subject to extensive federal and state healthcare regulation, and if we fail to comply with applicable regulations, we could suffer severe criminal or civil
sanctions or be required to restructure our operations, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.*
As a device manufacturer, even though we do not control referrals or bill directly to Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party payors, we are subject to healthcare
fraud and abuse regulation and enforcement by the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business, as well as other healthcare laws and
regulations. The healthcare laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include:
•

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which applies to our business activities, including our marketing practices, educational programs, pricing policies
and relationships with healthcare providers, by prohibiting, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or providing any
remuneration (including any bribe, kickback or rebate) directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, intended to induce or in return for
the purchase or recommendation of any good, facility, item or service reimbursable, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the
Medicare or Medicaid programs. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute or specific intent to
violate it in order to commit a violation. Rather, if “one purpose” of the remuneration is to induce referrals, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute is
violated. In addition, following passage of the PPACA violations of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute became per se violations of the False Claims
Act;

•

federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including the FCA, that prohibit, among other things, knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid or other government payors that are false or fraudulent, or making
a false statement to decrease or conceal an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government, and which may apply to entities
that provide coding and billing advice to customers;

•

HIPAA, and its implementing regulations, which created additional federal criminal laws that prohibit, among other things, knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;
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•

and, HIPAA, as amended by HITE CH, also imposes certain regulatory and contractual requirements on certain types of people and entities subject to
the law and their business associates regarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

•

the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, enacted under the PPACA, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics, and
medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to
make annual reports to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, regarding any “transfers of value” provided to physicians and teaching
hospitals. Failure to submit required information may result in civil monetary penalties of up to an aggregate of $150,000 per year and up to an
aggregate of $1 million per year for “knowing failures,” for all payments, transfers of value or ownership or investment interests that are not timely,
accurately, and completely reported in an annual submission. We are required to report detailed payment data and submit legal attestation to the
accuracy of such data by March 31st of each calendar year; and

•

state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws that may apply to items or services reimbursed by
any third-party payor, including commercial insurers; state laws that require device companies to comply with the industry’s voluntary compliance
guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be provided to
healthcare providers and entities; state laws that require device manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to
physicians and other healthcare providers and entities or marketing expenditures; and state laws governing the privacy and security of certain health
information, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

Because of the breadth of these laws, it is possible that some of our business activities, including our relationships with physicians and other health care providers
and entities, some of whom recommend, purchase and/or prescribe our products and may receive stock awards as compensation for services provided, could be
subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to
incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of
the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including, without limitation, administrative, civil
and/or criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, contractual damages, reputational harm, exclusion from governmental health care programs, diminished
profits and future earnings, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve
allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our
business and our financial results.
We recently settled a securities class action lawsuit and have reached a settlement agreement with the SEC. If we are subject to additional claims, our
insurance may not be sufficient to cover additional expenses incurred.*
In May 2017, we settled a class action lawsuit which named the Company and certain of its officers as defendants for allegedly false and misleading statements
concerning the Company’s busin ess, operations, and prospects in connection with the Company’s September 2015 common stock offering, or the 2015
offering. In connection with the settlement, we received $9.3 million in insurance proceeds to pay the settlement amount.
In March 2018, we reached an agreement-in-principle with the Staff of the Division of Enforcement, or the Staff, of the SEC to settle, without admitting or
denying, charges arising out of the SEC’s investigation into alleged false and misleading statements or omissions made in connection with the 2015 offering. Those
charges include alleged violations of Section 10 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder, and Sections 17(a)(1)-(3) of the Securities Act. On September 19, 2018, the SEC issued an order approving the terms of the settlement agreement.
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We may, in the future, be subject to regulatory claims, including claims for violations of the federal securities laws, rules and regulations relating to our 2 015
offering , and may also need to defend claims against our current or former directors and officers . If that occurs, we may be required to pay a monetary settlement
or judgment and we may not have sufficient insurance coverage remaining to cover the cost s of any such claims or any related potential indemnification
obligations to our current or former directors and officers. Moreover, even if these claims against us are not successful, the defense of such claims could result in
substantial costs and signi ficant adverse impact on our reputation and divert management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our medical device products and operations are subject to extensive governmental regulation both in the United States and abroad, and our failure to comply
with applicable requirements could cause our business to suffer.*
Our medical device products and operations are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and various other federal, state and foreign governmental authorities,
such as Health Canada. Government regulation of medical devices is meant to assure their safety and effectiveness, and includes regulation of, among other things:
•

design, development and manufacturing;

•

testing, labeling, content and language of instructions for use and storage;

•

clinical trials;

•

product safety;

•

marketing, sales and distribution;

•

regulatory clearances and approvals including pre-market clearance and approval;

•

conformity assessment procedures;

•

product traceability and record keeping procedures;

•

advertising and promotion;

•

product complaints, complaint reporting, recalls and field safety corrective actions;

•

post-market surveillance, including reporting of deaths or serious injuries and malfunctions that, if they were to recur, could lead to death or serious
injury;

•

post-market studies; and

•

product import and export.

The regulations to which we are subject are complex and have tended to become more stringent over time. Regulatory changes could result in restrictions on our
ability to carry on or expand our operations, higher than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated sales.
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Before we can market or sell a new regulated product or a significant modification to an existing produ ct in the United States, we must obtain either clearance
under Section 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, or an approval of a PMA application unless the device is specifically exempt from
pre-market review. In the 510(k) clearance process, the FDA must determine that a proposed device is “substantially equivalent” to a device legally on the market,
known as a “predicate” device, with respect to intended use, technology and safety and effectiveness, in order to clear the proposed de vice for marketing. Clinical
data is sometimes required to support substantial equivalence. In the PMA approval process, the FDA must determine that a proposed device is safe and effective
for its intended use based, in part, on specific data, including, but not limited to, pre-clinical, clinical trial, and other product data. The PMA process is typically
required for devices for which the 510(k) process cannot be used and that are deemed to pose the greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-supportin g or
implantable devices. Modifications to products that are approved through a PMA application generally need FDA approval. Similarly, some modifications made
to products cleared through a 510(k) may require a new 510(k). The FDA’s 510(k) clearance pro cess usually takes from three to 12 months, but may last
longer. The process of obtaining a PMA is much more costly and uncertain than the 510(k) clearance process and generally takes from one to three years, or even
longer, from the time the application is submitted to the FDA until an approval is obtained.
In the United States, our silicone gel breast implants are marketed pursuant to a PMA order issued by the FDA in March 2012, and our tissue expanders are
marketed pursuant to pre-market clearance under Section 510(k) of the FDCA. If the FDA requires us to go through a lengthier, more rigorous examination for
future products or modifications to existing products than we had expected, our product introductions or modifications could be delayed or canceled, which could
cause our sales to decline. The FDA may demand that we obtain a PMA prior to marketing certain of our future products. In addition, if the FDA disagrees with
our determination that a product we market is subject to an exemption from pre-market review, the FDA may require us to submit a 510(k) or PMA in order to
continue marketing the product. Further, even with respect to those future products where a PMA is not required, we cannot assure you that we will be able to
obtain the 510(k) clearances with respect to those products.
The FDA can delay, limit or deny clearance or approval of a device for many reasons, including:
•

we may not be able to demonstrate to the FDA’s satisfaction that our products are safe and effective for their intended uses;

•

the data from our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support clearance or approval, where required; and

•

the manufacturing process or facilities we use may not meet applicable requirements.

In addition, the FDA may change its clearance and approval policies, adopt additional regulations or revise existing regulations, or take other actions that may
prevent or delay approval or clearance of our products under development or impact our ability to modify our currently approved or cleared products on a timely
basis. Any change in the laws or regulations that govern the clearance and approval processes relating to our current and future products could make it more
difficult and costly to obtain clearance or approval for new products, or to produce, market and distribute existing products.
The FDA could also reclassify some or all of our products that are currently classified as Class II to Class III requiring additional controls, clinical studies and
submission of a PMA for us to continue marketing and selling those products. We cannot guarantee that the FDA will not reclassify any of our Class II devices into
Class III and require us to submit a PMA for FDA review and approval of the safety and effectiveness of our product. Any delay in, or failure to receive or maintain
clearance or approval for our products under development could prevent us from generating sales from these products or achieving profitability. Additionally, the
FDA and other regulatory authorities have broad enforcement powers. Regulatory enforcement or inquiries, or other increased scrutiny on us, could dissuade some
surgeons from using our products and adversely affect our reputation and the perceived safety and effectiveness of our products.
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Moreover, principa l investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive compensation in
connection with such services. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some of these relationships to the FDA or other regulatory authority. The
FDA or other regulatory authority may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a principal investigator has created a conflict of interest or otherwise
affected interpretation of the study. The FD A or other regulatory authority may therefore question the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial
site and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized. This could result in a delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications by the FDA or
other regulatory authority, as the case may be, and may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of one or more of our product candidates.
In addition, even after we have obtained the proper regulatory clearance or approval to market a product, the FDA has the power to require us to conduct postmarketing studies. For example, we are required to continue to study and report clinical results to the FDA on our silicone gel breast implants. We completed and
submitted the Final Report to FDA for our 10-year pivotal study in March 2018. Clinical data is ongoing for our second or “new enrollment” post-approval
study. Failure to conduct required studies in a timely manner could result in the revocation of the PMA approval or 510(k) clearance for the product that is subject
to such a requirement and could also result in the recall or withdrawal of the product, which would prevent us from generating sales from that product in the United
States.
Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could jeopardize our ability to sell our products and result in enforcement actions such as:
•

warning letters;

•

fines;

•

injunctions;

•

civil penalties;

•

termination of distribution;

•

recalls or seizures of products;

•

delays in the introduction of products into the market;

•

total or partial suspension of production;

•

refusal of the FDA or other regulator to grant future clearances or approvals;

•

withdrawals or suspensions of current clearances or approvals, resulting in prohibitions on sales of our products; and/or

•

in the most serious cases, criminal penalties.

Any of these sanctions could result in higher than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated sales and have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business,
results of operations and financial condition.
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If we or if our third-party manufacturer fail to comply with the FDA’s good manufacturing practice regulations, it could impair our ability to market our
products in a cost-effective and timely manner.
We and our third-party manufacturers are required to comply with the FDA’s QSR, which covers the methods and documentation of the design, testing, production,
control, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage and shipping of our products. The FDA audits compliance with the QSR through periodic
announced and unannounced inspections of manufacturing and other facilities. The FDA may conduct inspections or audits at any time. If we or our
manufacturers fail to adhere to QSR requirements, have significant non-compliance issues or fail to timely and adequately respond to any adverse inspectional
observations or product safety issues, or if any corrective action plan that we or our manufacturers propose in response to observed deficiencies is not sufficient, the
FDA could take enforcement action against us, which could delay production of our products and may include:
•

untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;

•

unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such actions;

•

customer notifications or repair, replacement, refunds, recall, detention or seizure of our products;

•

operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production;

•

refusing or delaying our requests for 510(k) clearance or pre-market approval of new products or modified products;

•

withdrawing 510(k) clearances or pre-market approvals that have already been granted;

•

refusal to grant export approval for our products; or

•

criminal prosecution.

Any of the foregoing actions could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition and operating results. Furthermore, our
manufacturer may not currently be or may not continue to be in compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements, which could result in our failure to produce
our products on a timely basis and in the required quantities, if at all.
Our ability to market the miraDry System in the United States is limited to the treatment of sweat, odor and hair in the underarm, and if we want to expand our
marketing claims, we will need to obtain additional FDA clearances or approvals, which may not be granted.*
We currently only have FDA clearance to market the miraDry System in the United States for the treatment of primary hyperhidrosis of the axilla, or the underarm,
and for permanent hair reduction procedures in the axilla. This clearance restricts our ability to market or advertise the miraDry System for other specific body
areas, and other conditions, which could limit physician adoption and patient demand for the miraDry System. We believe that future applications using the
miraDry System could be used to treat other body areas, such as the feet and hands, where patients experience sweat-bothered symptoms. Developing and
promoting these new treatment applications for our miraDry System is an element of our growth strategy, but we cannot predict when or if we will receive the
clearances required to implement these additional products and applications. In addition, we will be required to conduct additional clinical trials or studies to
support our applications, which may be time-consuming and expensive, and may produce results that do not result in submission of, or FDA clearances for, new
treatment applications. In the event that we do not obtain additional FDA clearances, our ability to promote the miraDry System in the United States will be limited.
Because we anticipate that sales in the United States will continue to be a significant portion of our business for the foreseeable future, ongoing restrict ions on our
ability to market the miraDry System in the United States could harm our business and limit our net sales growth.
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There is no guarantee that the FDA will grant 510(k) clearance or PMA approval of our future products, and failure to obtain neces sary clearances or
approvals for our future products would adversely affect our ability to grow our business.
Some of our future products may require FDA clearance of a 510(k) or FDA approval of a PMA. The FDA may not approve or clear these products for the
indications that are necessary or desirable for successful commercialization. Indeed, the FDA may refuse our requests for 510(k) clearance or pre-market approval
of new products.
Significant delays in receiving clearance or approval, or the failure to receive clearance or approval for our new products would have an adverse effect on our
ability to expand our business.
If we modify our FDA approved or cleared devices, we may need to seek additional clearances or approvals, which, if not granted, would prevent us from
selling our modified products.*
In the United States, our silicone gel breast implants are marketed pursuant to a PMA order issued by the FDA in March 2012, and our tissue expanders and
miraDry System are marketed pursuant to pre-market clearance under Section 510(k) of the FDCA. Any modifications to a PMA-approved or 510(k)-cleared
device that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, including significant design and manufacturing changes, or that would constitute a major change in
its intended use, manufacture, design, components, or technology requires a new 510(k) clearance or, possibly, approval of a new PMA application or PMA
supplement. For example, on March 14, 2017, we announced that we had submitted a PMA supplement to the FDA for the manufacturing of our PMA-approved
breast implants by Vesta for which we received final approval on April 17, 2018. Certain changes to a PMA-approved device do not require submission and
approval of a new PMA or PMA supplement and may only require notice to FDA in a PMA 30-Day Notice, Special PMA Supplement – Changes Being Effected or
PMA Annual Report. The FDA requires every manufacturer to make this determination in the first instance, but the FDA may review any manufacturer’s
decision. The FDA may not agree with our decisions regarding whether new clearances or approvals are necessary. We have modified some of our 510(k) cleared
products, and have determined based on our review of the applicable FDA guidance that in certain instances the changes did not require new 510(k) clearances or
PMA approvals. If the FDA disagrees with our determination and requires us to seek new 510(k) clearances or PMA approvals for modifications to our previously
cleared or approved products for which we have concluded that new clearances or approvals are unnecessary, we may be required to cease marketing or to recall
the modified product until we obtain clearance or approval, and we may be subject to significant regulatory fines or penalties. Furthermore, our products could be
subject to recall if the FDA determines, for any reason, that our products are not safe or effective or that appropriate regulatory submissions were not made. Delays
in receipt or failure to receive approvals, the loss of previously received approvals, or the failure to comply with any other existing or future regulatory
requirements, could reduce our sales, profitability and future growth prospects.
A recall of our products, either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA or another governmental authority, or the discovery of serious safety issues with our
products that leads to corrective actions, could have a significant adverse impact on us.
The FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or
defects in design or manufacture of a product or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. The FDA’s authority to require a recall must be
based on an FDA finding that there is reasonable probability that the device would cause serious injury or death. Manufacturers may also, under their own
initiative, recall a product if any material deficiency in a device is found or withdraw a product to improve device performance or for other reasons. The FDA
requires that certain classifications of recalls be reported to the FDA within 10 working days after the recall is initiated. A government-mandated or voluntary recall
by us or one of our distributors could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component failures, malfunctions, manufacturing errors, design or labeling
defects or other deficiencies and issues. Similar regulatory agencies in other countries have similar authority to recall devices because of material deficiencies or
defects in design or manufacture that could endanger health. Any recall would divert management attention and financial resources and could cause the price of
our stock to decline, expose us to product liability or other claims and harm our reputation with customers. Such events could impair our ability to produce our
products in a cost-effective and timely manner in order to meet our customers’ demands. A recall involving our silicone gel breast implants could be particularly
harmful to our business, financial and operating results. Companies are required to maintain certain
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records of recalls, even if they are not reportable to the FDA or similar foreign governmental authorities. We may initiate voluntary recalls involving our products
in the future that we determine do not require notification of the FDA or foreign governmental authorities. If the FDA or foreign governmental authorities disagree
with our determinations, they could require us to report those actions as recalls. A future recall announcement could harm our reputation with customers and
negatively affect our sales. In addition, the FDA or a foreign governmental authority could take enforcement action for failing to re port the recalls when they were
conducted.
In addition, under the FDA’s medical device reporting regulations, we are required to report to the FDA any incident in which our product may have caused or
contributed to a death or serious injury or in which our product malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, would likely cause or contribute to death or
serious injury. Repeated product malfunctions may result in a voluntary or involuntary product recall. We are also required to follow detailed record-keeping
requirements for all firm-initiated medical device corrections and removals, and to report such corrective and removal actions to FDA if they are carried out in
response to a risk to health and have not otherwise been reported under the medical device reporting regulations. Depending on the corrective action we take to
address a product’s deficiencies or defects, the FDA may require, or we may decide, that we will need to obtain new approvals or clearances for the device before
we may market or distribute the corrected device. Seeking such approvals or clearances may delay our ability to replace the recalled devices in a timely
manner. Moreover, if we do not adequately address problems associated with our devices, we may face additional regulatory enforcement action, including FDA
warning letters, product seizure, injunctions, administrative penalties, or civil or criminal fines. We may also be required to bear other costs or take other actions
that may have a negative impact on our sales as well as face significant adverse publicity or regulatory consequences, which could harm our business, including our
ability to market our products in the future.
Any adverse event involving our products, whether in the United States or abroad, could result in future voluntary corrective actions, such as recalls or customer
notifications, or agency action, such as inspection, mandatory recall or other enforcement action. Any corrective action, whether voluntary or involuntary, as well
as defending ourselves in a lawsuit, will require the dedication of our time and capital, distract management from operating our business and may harm our
reputation and financial results.
If the third parties on which we rely to conduct our clinical trials and to assist us with pre-clinical development do not perform as contractually required or
expected, we may not be able to obtain regulatory clearance or approval for or commercialize our products.
We often must rely on third parties, such as contract research organizations, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories to conduct our
clinical trials and preclinical development activities. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet
expected deadlines, if these third parties need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our
clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our pre-clinical development activities or clinical trials may be extended, delayed, suspended or
terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory clearance or approval for, or successfully commercialize, our products on a timely basis, if at all, and our
business, operating results and prospects may be adversely affected. Furthermore, our third-party clinical trial investigators may be delayed in conducting our
clinical trials for reasons outside of their control.
We may be subject to regulatory or enforcement actions if we engage in improper marketing or promotion of our products.
Our educational and promotional activities and training methods must comply with FDA and other applicable laws, including the prohibition of the promotion of a
medical device for a use that has not been cleared or approved by the FDA. Use of a device outside of its cleared or approved indications is known as “off-label”
use. Physicians may use our products off-label in their professional medical judgment, as the FDA does not restrict or regulate a physician’s choice of treatment
within the practice of medicine. However, if the FDA determines that our educational and promotional activities or training constitutes promotion of an off-label
use, it could request that we modify our training or promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of warning
letters, untitled letters, fines, penalties, injunctions, or seizures, which could have an adverse impact on our reputation and financial results. It is also possible that
other federal, state or foreign enforcement
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authorities may take action if they consider our educational and promotional activities or training methods to constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could
result in significant fi nes or penalties under other statutory authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement. In that event, our reputation could
be damaged and adoption of the products could be impaired. Although our policy is to refrain from statements that could be considered off-label promotion of our
products, the FDA or another regulatory agency could disagree and conclude that we have engaged in off-label promotion. It is also possible that other federal,
state or foreign enforcement authorities mi ght take action, such as federal prosecution under the federal civil False Claims Act, if they consider our business
activities constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant penalties, including, but not limited to, criminal, civil and/or administrative
penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we
become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreemen t to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations. In addition, the off-label use of our products may increase the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims are
expensive t o defend and could divert our management’s attention, result in substantial damage awards against us, and harm our reputation.
Changes in existing third-party coverage and reimbursement may impact our ability to sell our products when used in breast reconstruction procedures.
Maintaining and growing sales of our products when used in breast reconstruction procedures depends, in part, on the availability of coverage and adequate
reimbursement from third-party payors, including government programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, private insurance plans and managed care programs.
Breast augmentation procedures are generally performed on a cash‑pay basis and are not covered by third‑party payors. In contrast, breast reconstruction
procedures may be covered by third‑party payors. Therefore, hospitals and other healthcare provider customers that purchase our products to use in breast
reconstruction procedures typically bill various third-party payors to cover all or a portion of the costs and fees associated with the procedures in which our
products are used, including the cost of the purchase of our products. Decreases in the amount third-party payors are willing to reimburse our customers for breast
reconstruction procedures using our products could create pricing pressures for us. The process for determining whether a third-party payor will provide coverage
for a product or procedure may be separate from the process for establishing the reimbursement rate that such a payor will pay for the product or procedure. A
payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product or procedure does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. Further, one payor’s
determination to provide coverage for a product or procedure does not assure that other payors will also provide such coverage. Adequate third-party
reimbursement may not be available to enable us to maintain our business in a profitable way. We may be unable to sell our products on a profitable basis if thirdparty payors deny coverage or reduce their current levels of payment, or if our costs of production increase faster than increases in reimbursement levels.
Furthermore, the healthcare industry in the United States has experienced a trend toward cost containment as government and private insurers seek to control
healthcare costs by imposing lower payment rates and negotiating reduced contract rates with service providers. Therefore, we cannot be certain that the breast
reconstruction procedures using our products will be reimbursed at a cost-effective level. Nor can we be certain that third-party payors using a methodology that
sets amounts based on the type of procedure performed, such as those utilized by government programs and in many privately managed care systems, will view the
cost of our products to be justified so as to incorporate such costs into the overall cost of the procedure. Moreover, we are unable to predict what changes will be
made to the reimbursement methodologies used by third-party payors in the future.
To the extent we sell our products internationally, market acceptance may depend, in part, upon the availability of coverage and reimbursement within prevailing
healthcare payment systems. Reimbursement and healthcare payment systems in international markets vary significantly by country, and include both governmentsponsored healthcare and private insurance. We may not obtain international coverage and reimbursement approvals in a timely manner, if at all. Our failure to
receive such approvals would negatively impact market acceptance of our products in the international markets in which those approvals are sought.
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Legislative or regulatory health care reforms may make it more difficult and costly to produce, market and distribute our products after clearance or approval
is obtaine d, or to do so profitably.
Recent political, economic and regulatory influences are subjecting the health care industry to fundamental changes. Both the federal and state governments in the
United States and foreign governments continue to propose and pass new legislation and regulations designed to contain or reduce the cost of health care, improve
quality of care, and expand access to healthcare, among other purposes. Such legislation and regulations may result in decreased reimbursement for medical devices
and/or the procedures in which they are used, which may further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce the prices charged for medical devices. This could
harm our ability to market and generate sales from our products.
In addition, FDA regulations and guidance are often revised or reinterpreted by the FDA in ways that may significantly affect our business and our products. Any
new regulations, revisions or reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose additional costs or lengthen review times of our products.
In the future there may continue to be additional proposals relating to the reform of the U.S. healthcare system. Certain of these proposals could limit the prices we
are able to charge for our products or the amount of reimbursement available for our products, and could limit the acceptance and availability of our products, any
of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our customers and much of our industry are required to be compliant under the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, the
Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and implementing regulations (including the final Omnibus Rule published on January
25, 2013) affecting the transmission, security and privacy of health information, and failure to comply could result in significant penalties.
Numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including HIPAA, and HITECH, govern the collection, dissemination, security, use and confidentiality of health
information that identifies specific patients. HIPAA and HITECH require our surgeon and hospital customers to comply with certain standards for the use and
disclosure of health information within their companies and with third parties. The Privacy Standards and Security Standards under HIPAA establish a set of
standards for the protection of individually identifiable health information by health plans, health care clearinghouses and certain health care providers, referred to
as Covered Entities, and the Business Associates with whom Covered Entities enter into service relationships pursuant to which individually identifiable health
information may be exchanged. Notably, whereas HIPAA previously directly regulated only these Covered Entities, HITECH, which was signed into law as part
of the stimulus package in February 2009, makes certain of HIPAA’s privacy and security standards also directly applicable to Covered Entities’ Business
Associates. As a result, both Covered Entities and Business Associates are now subject to significant civil and criminal penalties for failure to comply with Privacy
Standards and Security Standards.
HIPAA requires Covered Entities (like our customers) and Business Associates to develop and maintain policies and procedures with respect to protected health
information that is used or disclosed, including the adoption of administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect such information. HITECH expands the
notification requirement for breaches of patient-identifiable health information, restricts certain disclosures and sales of patient-identifiable health information and
provides for civil monetary penalties for HIPAA violations. HITECH also increased the civil and criminal penalties that may be imposed against Covered Entities
and Business Associates and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal
HIPAA laws and seek attorney fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. Additionally, certain states have adopted comparable privacy and
security laws and regulations, some of which may be more stringent than HIPAA.
We are not currently required to comply with HIPAA or HITECH because we are neither a Covered Entity nor a Business Associate (as that term is defined by
HIPAA). However, in administering our warranties and complying with FDA-required device tracking, we do regularly handle confidential and personal
information similar to that which these laws seek to protect. We also occasionally encounter hospital customers who pressure us to sign Business Associate
Agreements, or BAAs, although, to date, we have refused, given that we do not believe we are business associates to such Covered Entities under HIPAA or
HITECH. If the law or regulations were to change or if we were to agree to sign a BAA, the costs of complying with the HIPAA standards are burdensome and
could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, under such situations there would be significant risks and financial penalties for us if we were
then found to have violated the laws and regulations that pertain to Covered Entities and Business Associates.
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We are unable to predict what changes to t he HIPAA Privacy Standards and Security Standards might be made in the future or how those changes could affect our
business. Any new legislation or regulation in the area of privacy and security of personal information, including personal health informat ion, could also adversely
affect our business operations. If we do not comply with existing or new applicable federal or state laws and regulations related to patient health information, we
could be subject to criminal or civil sanctions and any resulting liability could adversely affect our financial condition.
In addition, even when HIPAA does not apply, according to the FTC, failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal information secure constitutes
unfair acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTCA, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). The FTC expects a company’s data security measures
to be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of consumer information it holds, the size and complexity of its business, and the cost of
available tools to improve security and reduce vulnerabilities. Medical data is considered sensitive data that merits stronger safeguards. The FTC’s guidance for
appropriately securing consumers’ personal information is similar to what is required by the HIPAA Security Rule.
In addition, certain state laws govern the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, some of which are more stringent than HIPAA and
many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts. Failure to comply with these
laws, where applicable, can result in the imposition of significant civil and/or criminal penalties.
An adverse outcome of a sales and use tax or value-added tax (VAT) audit could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition.
We sell our products in all 50 states and each state (and some local governments) has its own sales tax laws and regulations. We charge each of our customers sales
tax on each order and report and pay that tax to the appropriate state authority, unless we believe there is an applicable exception. In some states, there are no
available exceptions; in some states, we believe our products can be sold tax-free. In other states, we believe we can sell our products tax-free only for customers
who request tax-exempt treatment due to the nature of the devices we sell or due to the nature of the customer’s use of our device. We also sell internationally and
some sales may be subject to value-added tax. We may be audited by the taxing authorities of one or more jurisdictions and there can be no assurance, however,
that an audit will be resolved in our favor. Such an audit could be expensive and time-consuming and result in substantial management distraction. If the matter
were to be resolved in a manner adverse to us, it could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to resell shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid.
The market price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in respons e to various factors, some of which are
beyond our control. In recent years, the stock markets generally have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors may significantly affect the market price of our common
stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.
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We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, and accordingly, stockholders mu st rely on stock appreciation for any return on their
investment.
We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends is
currently prohibited by our Credit Agreements. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be your sole source of gain for the foreseeable
future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then-existing conditions, including
our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem
relevant.
Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters
subject to stockholder approval.*
As of November 1, 2018, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders beneficially owned approximately 23% of our outstanding voting stock. As a
result, these stockholders have the ability to influence us through their ownership position and may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder
approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger,
sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may
feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.
We are an “emerging growth company” and intend to take advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies, which
could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements
that apply to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies.” As an emerging growth company:
•

we are exempt from the requirement to obtain an attestation and report from our auditors on the assessment of our internal control over financial
reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

•

we are permitted to provide less extensive disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements in our periodic reports, proxy statements and
registration statements; and

•

we are not required to give our stockholders non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements.

In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company may take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised
accounting standards. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised
accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
We may remain an emerging growth company until December 31, 2019 (the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public
offering). However, if certain events occur prior to the end of such five-year period, including if we become a “large accelerated filer,” our annual gross revenue
equals or exceeds $1.0 billion or we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt in any three-year period, we will cease to be an emerging growth company
prior to the end of such five-year period.
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As a public company, we are required to a ssess our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis, and any future adverse results from such
assessment could result in a loss of investor confidence in our financial reports and have an adverse effect on our stock price.
As a public company, we are required to comply with certain of the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, regarding internal
control over financial reporting, including a report of management on the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting in their annual reports on Form 10K.
For as long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we intend to utilize the provision exempting us from the requirement that our
independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The process of becoming
fully compliant with Section 404 may divert internal resources and will take a significant amount of time and effort to complete, and may result in additional
deficiencies and material weaknesses being identified by us or our independent registered public accounting firm. We may experience higher than anticipated
operating expenses, as well as increased independent registered public accounting firm fees during the implementation of any required changes and thereafter.
Completing documentation of our internal control system and financial processes, remediation of control deficiencies and management testing of internal controls
will require substantial effort by us. If our internal control over financial reporting or our related disclosure controls and procedures are not effective, we may not
be able to accurately report our financial results or file our periodic reports in a timely manner, which may cause investors to lose confidence in our reported
financial information and may lead to a decline in our stock price.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to decline. *
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that our
officers, directors or the holders of a large number of shares of common stock intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.
Certain holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to certain rights, subject to some conditions, with respect to the registration of their shares under the
Securities Act.
We cannot predict what effect, if any, sales of our shares in the public market or the availability of shares for sale will have on the market price of our common
stock. Future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including shares issued upon exercise of outstanding options or warrants, or
the perception that such sales may occur, however, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and also could adversely affect our future ability to
raise capital through the sale of our common stock or other equity-related securities of ours at times and prices we believe appropriate.
Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could result in
additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause our stock price to fall.
We expect that significant additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations, including conducting clinical trials, commercialization
efforts, expanded research and development activities and costs associated with operating a public company. To raise capital, we may sell common stock,
convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell common stock,
convertible securities or other equity securities, investors may be materially diluted by subsequent sales. Such sales may also result in material dilution to our
existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to the holders of our common stock.
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The number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan automatically increases on January 1 of each year, continuing thr ough and
including January 1, 2024, by 4% of the total number of shares of our capital stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, or a lesser number
of shares determined by our board of directors. Unless our board of directors elects not to increase the number of shares available for future grant each year, our
stockholders may experience additional dilution, which could cause our stock price to fall. Pursuant to the foregoing provision, effective January 1, 2018, our board
of director s increased the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan by 4% of the number of shares of our capital stock
outstanding on December 31, 2017, or 776,079 shares. As of September 30, 2018 the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our 2014 plan
was 132,719.
As of September 30, 2018, the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our ESPP was 543,955. The number of shares of our common stock
reserved for issuance under the ESPP automatically increases on January 1 of each year, beginning on January 1, 2015 and continuing through and including
January 1, 2024, by 1% of the total number of shares of our capital stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, or a lesser number of shares
determined by our board of directors. Unless our board of directors elects not to increase the number of shares available for future grant each year, our stockholders
may experience additional dilution, which could cause our stock price to fall. Pursuant to the foregoing provision, effective January 1, 2018, our board of directors
increased the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the ESPP by 1% of the number of shares of our capital stock outstanding on
December 31, 2017, or 194,020 shares.
Pursuant to the Inducement Plan approved by our board of directors, our compensation committee of the board of directors is authorized to grant stock options or
restricted stock units which may be exercised or settled, as applicable, to new employees as inducements material to such new employees entering into employment
with us in accordance with NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5635(c)(4). As of September 30, 2018, a total of 876,441 RSUs and options had been awarded by the
compensation committee and the number of shares available for future grant was 91,306 shares. In February 2018, the compensation committee increased the
number of shares available under the Inducement Plan by 500,000. The number of shares that may be granted under the Inducement Plan may be increased in the
future by our board of directors.
Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and under Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change of control, even if an acquisition
would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could reduce our stock price and prevent our stockholders from replacing or removing our current
management.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our
company or changes in our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some of these provisions include:
•

a board of directors divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, such that not all members of the board will be elected at one time;

•

a prohibition on stockholder action through written consent, which requires that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

a requirement that special meetings of stockholders be called only by the chairman of the board of directors, the chief executive officer, or by a
majority of the total number of authorized directors;

•

advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations for election to our board of directors;

•

a requirement that no member of our board of directors may be removed from office by our stockholders except for cause and, in addition to any other
vote required by law, upon the approval of not less than two-thirds of all outstanding shares of our voting stock then entitled to vote in the election of
directors;
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•

a requirement of approval of not less than two-thirds of all outstanding shares of our voting stock to amend any bylaws by stockholder action or to
amend specific provisions of our certificate of incor poration; and

•

the authority of the board of directors to issue preferred stock on terms determined by the board of directors without stockholder approval and which
preferred stock may include rights superior to the rights of the holders of common stock.

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, which may prohibit certain business combinations with
stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended
and restated bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate
actions that are opposed by our then-current board of directors, including a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our Company. Any delay or prevention
of a change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
If securities or industry analysts issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If any
of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding us, our business model, our intellectual property or our stock performance, or if our
clinical trials and operating results fail to meet the expectations of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of
us, or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHI BITS
The following exhibits are filed or furnished as part of this report:
Number

Description

10.1#

Employment Agreement, effective August 8, 2018, by and between Sientra, Inc. and Paul Little (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2018).

10.2#

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, effective August 8, 2018, by and between Sientra, Inc. and Patrick F. Williams (incorporated by
reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2018).

10.3#

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Consulting Agreement, effective August 6, 2018, by and between Sientra, Inc. and Keith J.
Sullivan (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 7, 2018).

10.4

Order Instituting Cease-and-Desist Proceedings Pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21c of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, Making Findings, and Imposing a Cease-And-Desist Order dated September 19, 2018 (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 20, 2018).

10.5*

First Amendment to the Lease, effective October 9, 2018, by and between miraDry, Inc. and IPX Walsh Bowers Investors, L.P.

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

32.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

#
*

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract, or agreement.
Filed herewith.
74

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
SIENTRA, INC.
November 6, 2018

By: /s/ Jeffrey Nugent
Jeffrey Nugent
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

November 6, 2018

By: /s/ Paul Little
Paul Little
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 10.5
FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this “ Amendment ”) is made and entered into as of October 9, 2018, by and
between IPX WALSH BOWERS INVESTORS , L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“ Landlord ”), and MIRADRY, INC., a
Delaware corporation (“ Tenant ”).
RECITALS
A.

Landlord (as successor in interest to DWF III Walsh Bowers, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company) and Tenant (formerly
known as Miramar Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, which was formerly known as Miramar Labs, Inc., a Delaware
corporation) are parties to that certain Lease, dated December 16, 2013 (the “ Lease ”). Pursuant to the Lease, Landlord has leased
to Tenant space currently containing approximately 29,256 rentable square feet described as 2790 Walsh Avenue (the “ Premises
”) in the building located at 2845 and 2855 Bowers Avenue and 2790 Walsh Avenue, Santa Clara, California (the “ Building ”).

B.

The Lease by its terms shall expire on May 31, 2019 (“ Prior Termination Date ”), and the parties desire to extend the Lease
Term, all on the following terms and conditions.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows:
1.

Extension. The Lease Term is hereby extended for a period of sixty-two (62) months and shall expire on July 31, 2024 (“
Extended Termination Date ”), unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms of the Lease. That portion of the Lease
Term commencing the day immediately following the Prior Termination Date (“ Extension Date ”) and ending on the Extended
Termination Date shall be referred to herein as the “ Extended Term ”.

2.

Base Monthly Rent. As of the Extension Date, the schedule of Base Monthly Rent payable with respect to the Premises during
the Extended Term is the following:
Period
6/1/19 – 5/31/20
6/1/20 – 5/31/21
6/1/21 – 5/31/22
6/1/22 – 5/31/23
6/1/23 – 5/31/24
6/1/24 – 7/31/24

Base Monthly Rent
$73,140.00
$75,334.20
$77,594.23
$79,922.06
$82,319.72
$84,789.31

All such Base Monthly Rent shall be payable by Tenant in accordance with the terms of the Lease, as amended
hereby. Notwithstanding anything in the Lease to the contrary, so long as Tenant is not in default under the Lease, as amended
hereby, Tenant shall be entitled to an abatement of Base Monthly Rent with respect to the Premises in the amount of $73,140.00
per month for the months of June and July, 2019. The maximum total amount of Base Monthly Rent abated with respect to the
Premises in accordance with the foregoing shall equal $146,280.00 (the “ Abated Base Monthly Rent ”). If Tenant defaults under
the Lease, as amended hereby, at any time during the Extended Term (as the same may be further extended) and fails to cure such
default within any applicable cure period under the Lease, as amended hereby, then all Abated Base Monthly Rent shall
immediately become due and payable. Only Base Monthly Rent shall be abated pursuant to this Section, as more particularly
described herein, and Tenant Share of Operating Expenses and all other rent and other costs and charges specified in the Lease, as
amended hereby, shall remain as due and payable pursuant to the provisions of the Lease, as amended hereby.
{2130-00573/00843687;4}
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3.

Letter of Credit. Landlord is currently holding a Letter of Credit in the amount of $295,067.00 pursuant to Section 3.6 of the
Lease. Notwithstanding anything to t he contrary set forth in the Lease, concurrent with Tenant’s execution and delivery of this
Amendment, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord an amendment to the existing Letter of Credit (the “ Amended LOC ”) currently
held by Landlord under the Lease, which amen dment shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord,
amending the final expiration date of the Letter of Credit to be not earlier than September 30, 2024. Notwithstanding the foregoing
or anything to the contrary contained in the Leas e, (i) if Tenant does not deliver the Amended LOC, at Landlord’s option,
exercised by written notice to Tenant, this Amendment may be cancelled and of no further force or effect and, if so cancelled, all
the provisions of the Lease shall be in effect retro active to the date of this Amendment as if this Amendment were not signed; (ii)
Tenant shall ensure that the Letter of Credit shall remain in effect at all times prior to the delivery of the Amended LOC; and (iii)
in the event that at any time the financia l institution which issued the Letter of Credit or Amended LOC held by Landlord is
declared insolvent by the FDIC or is closed for any reason, Tenant must immediately provide a substitute Letter of Credit that
satisfies the requirements of the Lease, as am ended hereby, from a financial institution acceptable to Landlord, in Landlord’s sole
discretion.

4.

Additional Rent. For the period commencing on the Extension Date and ending on the Extended Termination Date, Tenant shall
pay all Additional Rent payable under the Lease, including Tenant’s Share of Expenses and Taxes in accordance with the terms of
the Lease, as amended hereby.

5.

Improvements to Premises.

6.

5.1

Condition of Premises. Tenant is in possession of the Premises and accepts the same “as is” without any agreements,
representations, understandings or obligations on the part of Landlord to perform any alterations, repairs or
improvements, except as may be expressly provided otherwise in this Amendment.

5.2

Responsibility for Improvements to Premises. Tenant may perform improvements to the Premises in accordance
with the Exhibit A attached hereto and Tenant shall be entitled to an improvement allowance in connection with such
work as more fully described in Exhibit A .

Other Pertinent Provisions. Landlord and Tenant agree that, effective as of the date of this Amendment (unless different
effective date(s) is/are specifically referenced in this Section), the Lease shall be amended in the following additional respects:
6.1

Landlord’s Address. Landlord’s Address set forth in Section Q of the Summary of the Lease is hereby deleted in its
entirety and replaced by the following:
IPX Walsh Bowers Investor, L.P.
1801 Century Park East, Suite 1240
Los Angeles, CA 90067
Attn: Asset Manager
With a copy to:
IPX Walsh Bowers Investors, L.P.
Ellis Preserve
3843 West Chester Pike
Newtown Square, PA 19073
Attn: General Counsel

{2130-00573/00843687;4}
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6.2

Deletion. Exhibit E (Option to Extend) of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and is of no further force and
effect.

6.3

Monument Sign. Tenant may remove the existing monument sign at the Building, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense,
and install a new non-exclusive monument sign (the “Monument Sign”) in a mutually agreeable location at the
Project. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant and its contractors shall not have the right to construct the new
Monument Sign unless and until Tenant has complied with all of the terms and conditions of Article 5 of the Lease,
including, without limitation, approval by Landlord of the final plans for the Monument Sign and the contractors to be
retained by Tenant to perform such construction. The location, design, size and color of the Monument Sign and the
manner the Monument Sign is installed at the Project, as well as the location, design, size and color of the signage with
Tenant’s name to be included on the Monument Sign and the manner in which it is attached to the Monument Sign, shall
be subject to the approval of Landlord and shall be in compliance with all applicable Laws. Upon installation, the
Monument Sign shall become the property of Landlord, without compensation to Tenant, and Landlord shall have the
right to install the names of other tenants of the Project on the Monument Sign without compensation to
Tenant. Although the Monument Sign will be maintained by Landlord, Tenant shall pay its pro rata share of the cost of
any maintenance or repair associated with the Monument Sign and such amount shall constitute Additional
Rent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant, at its cost, shall be responsible for the maintenance, repair or replacement
of Tenant’s sign age on the Monument Sign, which shall be maintained in a manner reasonably satisfactory to
Landlord. Upon expiration or earlier termination of the Lease or Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises, or if
Tenant leases and occupies less than 75% of the rentable square footage of the Premises, Landlord, at Tenant’s cost,
payable as Additional Rent within 30 days after demand therefor, shall have the right, at Tenant’s sole cost, to remove
Tenant’s signage from the Monument Sign and restore the Monument Sign to the condition it was in prior to installation
of Tenant’s signage thereon, ordinary wear and tear excepted.

6.4

Tenant Entity Status . Tenant shall promptly and with due diligence, at its sole cost and expense, amend all
certifications to do business and be in good standing filed with the Secretary of State of the State of California to reflect
Tenant’s name change from “Miramar Labs, Inc.” to “miraDry, Inc.”. Tenant shall promptly provide Landlord with all
such filings, together with any other supporting documentation reasonably required by Landlord (the “ Certifications
”). In the event Tenant fails to deliver the Certifications to Landlord within sixty (60) days following the date of this
Amendment, Tenant’s failure to do so shall in no way affect the validity of the Lease or Tenant’s liability pursuant to
the Lease, and Tenant acknowledges and agrees and hereby appoints any employee or agent of Tenant located in the
State of California, including at the Premises, as agent for service of process for purposes of the Lease, and Tenant
further acknowledges that Landlord may, for legal purposes, serve process on any such person at the Premises to satisfy
the requirements for service of process as required by law.
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7 . Miscellaneous.
7.1

This Amendment, including Exhibit A (Tenant Alterations) attached hereto, sets forth the entire agreement between the
parties with respect to the matters set forth herein. There have been no additional oral or written representations or
agreements. Under no circumstances shall Tenant be entitled to any rent abatement, improvement allowance, leasehold
improvements, or other work to the Premises, or any similar economic incentives that may have been provided Tenant
in connection with entering into the Lease, unless specifically set forth in this Amendment.

7.2

Except as herein modified or amended, the provisions, conditions and terms of the Lease shall remain unchanged and in
full force and effect. In the case of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Lease and this Amendment, the
provisions of this Amendment shall govern and control. The capitalized terms used in this Amendment shall have the
same definitions as set forth in the Lease to the extent that such capitalized terms are defined therein and not redefined
in this Amendment.

7.3

Submission of this Amendment by Landlord is not an offer to enter into this Amendment but rather is a solicitation for
such an offer by Tenant. Landlord shall not be bound by this Amendment until Landlord has executed and delivered the
same to Tenant.

7.4

Tenant hereby represents to Landlord that Tenant has dealt with no broker in connection with this Amendment other
than Kidder Mathews. Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord and the Landlord Agents harmless from all claims
of any other brokers claiming to have represented Tenant in connection with this Amendment.

7.5

Tenant shall not bring upon the Premises or any portion of the Project or use the Premises or permit the Premises or any
portion thereof to be used for the growing, manufacturing, administration, distribution (including without limitation, any
retail sales), possession, use or consumption of any cannabis, marijuana or cannabinoid product or compound,
regardless of the legality or illegality of the same.

7.6

Each signatory of this Amendment represents hereby that he or she has the authority to execute and deliver the same on
behalf of the party hereto for which such signatory is acting. Tenant hereby represents and warrants that neither
Tenant, nor any persons or entities holding any legal or beneficial interest whatsoever in Tenant, are (i) the target of any
sanctions program that is established by Executive Order of the President or published by the Office of Foreign Assets
Control, U.S. Department of the Treasury (“ OFAC ”); (ii) designated by the President or OFAC pursuant to the
Trading with the Enemy Act, 50 U.S.C. App. § 5, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. §§
1701-06, the Patriot Act, Public Law 107-56, Executive Order 13224 (September 23, 2001) or any Executive Order of
the President issued pursuant to such statutes; or (iii) named on the following list that is published by OFAC: “List of
Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons.” If the foregoing representation is untrue at any time during the
Extended Term, an Event of Tenant’s Default under the Lease will be deemed to have occurred, without the necessity of
notice to Tenant.

7.7

Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938, Landlord hereby notifies Tenant that as of the date of this Amendment,
the Premises have not undergone inspection by a “Certified Access Specialist” (“ CASp ”) to determine whether the
Premises meet all applicable construction-related accessibility standards under California Civil Code Section 55.53.
Landlord hereby discloses pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938 as follows: “A Certified Access Specialist
(CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine
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whether the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction-r elated accessibility standards under state
law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property owner or
lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject pre mises for the occupancy
or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on
the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspecti on, and
the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards within the
premises.” Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and agree that in the event that Tenant elects to perform a CASp
inspection of the Premises hereunder (the “ Inspection ”), such Inspection shall be (a) performed at Tenant’s sole cost
and expense, (b) limited to the Premises and (c) performed by a CASp who has been approved or designated by
Landlord prior to the Inspection. Any I nspection must be performed in a manner which minimizes the disruption of
business activities in the Building, and at a time reasonably approved by Landlord. Landlord reserves the right to be
present during the Inspection. Tenant agrees to: (i) promptly provide to Landlord a copy of the report or certification
prepared by the CASp inspector upon request (the “ Report ”), (ii) keep the information contained in the Report
confidential, except to the extent required by Law, or to the extent disclosure is neede d in order to complete any
necessary modifications or improvements required to comply with all applicable accessibility standards under state or
federal Law , as well as any other repairs, upgrades, improvements, modifications or alterations required by the Report
or that may be otherwise required to comply with applicable Laws or accessibility requirements (the “ Access
Improvements ”). Tenant shall be solely responsible for the cost of Access Improvements to the Premises or the
Building necessary to correc t any such violations of construction-related accessibility standards identified by such
Inspection as required by Law , which Access Improvements may, at Landlord’s option, be performed in whole or in
part by Landlord at Tenant’s expense, payable as Additi onal Rent within ten (10) days following Landlord’s demand.
7.8

Tenant hereby represents, warrants and agrees that: (i) it is acting on its own behalf and that it is not an employee benefit
plan as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ ERISA ”),
which is subject to Title 1 of ERISA, nor a plan as defined in Section 4975(e)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the “ Code ”; each of the foregoing hereinafter referred to collectively as a “ Plan ”); (ii) its assets do not
constitute “plan assets” of one or more such Plans within the meaning of Department of Labor Regulation Section
2510.3-101; and (iii) it will not be reconstituted as a Plan or as an entity whose assets constitute “plan assets”.

7.9

Redress for any claim against Landlord under the Lease and this Amendment shall be limited to and enforceable only
against and to the extent of Landlord’s interest in the Building. The obligations of Landlord under the Lease are not
intended to and shall not be personally binding on, nor shall any resort be had to the private properties of, any of its
trustees or board of directors and officers, as the case may be, its investment manager, the general partners thereof, or
any beneficiaries, stockholders, employees, or agents of Landlord or the investment manager, and in no case shall
Landlord be liable to Tenant hereunder for any lost profits, damage to business, or any form of special, indirect or
consequential damage.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have entered into and executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.
LANDLORD:

TENANT:

IPX WALSH BOWERS INVESTORS, L.P.,
a Delaware limited partnership

MIRADRY, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:

By:

/s/ Joseph I. Neverauskas

Name: Joseph I. Neverauskas
Title: Senor Vice President
Dated: October 18, 2018
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/s/ Charles Huiner

Name: Charles Huiner
Title: President & CEO
Dated: October 12, 2018
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EXHIBIT A – TENANT ALTERATIONS
attached to and made a part of the Amendment dated as of October 9, 2018,
between IPX WALSH BOWERS INVESTORS , L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ,
as Landlord and MIRADRY, INC., a Delaware corporation, as Tenant
1. Tenant, following the full and final execution and delivery of the Amendment to which this Exhibit A is attached and the Amended
LOC required under the Amendment, shall have the right to perform alterations and improvements in the Premises (the “ Tenant Alterations
”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant and its contractors shall not have the right to perform the Tenant Alterations in the Premises unless
and until Tenant has complied with all of the terms and conditions of Section 5.2 of the Lease, including, without limitation, approval by
Landlord of the final plans for the Tenant Alterations and the contractors to be retained by Tenant to perform such Tenant Alterations. Tenant
shall be responsible for all elements of the design of Tenant’s plans (including, without limitation, compliance with law, functionality of
design, the structural integrity of the design, the configuration of the Premises and the placement of Tenant’s furniture, appliances and
equipment), and Landlord’s approval of Tenant’s plans shall in no event relieve Tenant of the responsibility for such design. In addition to
the foregoing, Tenant shall be solely liable for all costs and expenses associated with or otherwise caused by Tenant’s performance and
installment of the Tenant Alterations (including, without limitation, any legal compliance requirements arising outside of the
Premises). Landlord’s approval of the contractors to perform the Tenant Alterations shall not be unreasonably withheld. The parties agree
that Landlord’s approval of the general contractor to perform the Tenant Alterations shall not be considered to be unreasonably withheld if
any such general contractor (a) does not have trade references reasonably acceptable to Landlord, (b) does not maintain insurance as required
pursuant to the terms of the Lease, (c) does not have the ability to be bonded for the work in an amount of no less than one hundred fifty
percent (150%) of the total estimated cost of the Tenant Alterations, (d) does not provide current financial statements reasonably acceptable to
Landlord, or (e) is not licensed as a contractor in the state/municipality in which the Premises is located. Tenant acknowledges the foregoing
is not intended to be an exclusive list of the reasons why Landlord may reasonably withhold its consent to a general contractor.
2. Provided Tenant is not in default, Landlord agrees to contribute the sum of $219,420.00 (i.e., a sum equal to $7.50 per rentable
square foot of the Premises) (the “ Allowance ”) toward the cost of performing the Tenant Alterations The Allowance may only be used for
the cost of preparing design and construction documents and mechanical and electrical plans for the Tenant Alterations and for hard costs in
connection with the Tenant Alterations. The Allowance shall be paid to Tenant or, at Landlord’s option, to the order of the general contractor
that performed the Tenant Alterations, within thirty (30) days following receipt by Landlord of (a) receipted bills covering all labor and
materials expended and used in the Tenant Alterations; (b) a sworn contractor’s affidavit from the general contractor and a request to disburse
from Tenant containing an approval by Tenant of the work done; (c) full and final waivers of lien; (d) as-built plans of the Tenant Alterations;
and (e) the certification of Tenant and its architect that the Tenant Alterations have been installed in a good and workmanlike manner in
accordance with the approved plans, and in accordance with applicable laws, codes and ordinances. The Allowance shall be disbursed in the
amount reflected on the receipted bills meeting the requirements above. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Landlord shall not
be obligated to disburse any portion of the Allowance during the continuance of an uncured default under the Lease, and Landlord’s
obligation to disburse shall only resume when and if such default is cured.
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3.
In no event shall the Allowance be used for the purchase of equipment, furniture or other items of personal property of Tenant. If
Tenant does not submit a request for payment of the entire Allow ance to Landlord in accordance with the provisions contained in this
Exhibit A by November 30, 2019, any unused amount shall accrue to the sole benefit of Landlord, it being understood that Tenant shall not
be entitled to any credit, abatement or other con cession in connection therewith. Tenant shall be responsible for all applicable state sales or
use taxes, if any, payable in connection with the Tenant Alterations and/or Allowance. Landlord shall be entitled to deduct from the
Allowance a construction m anagement fee for Landlord’s oversight of the Tenant Alterations in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the
total cost of the Tenant Alterations.
4.
Tenant agrees to accept the Premises in its “as-is” condition and configuration, it being agreed that Landlord shall not be required
to perform any work or, except as provided above with respect to the Allowance, incur any costs in connection with the construction or
demolition of any improvements in the Premises.
5.
This Exhibit A shall not be deemed applicable to any additional space added to the Premises at any time or from time to time,
whether by any options under the Lease or otherwise, or to any portion of the original Premises or any additions to the Premises in the event
of a renewal or extension of the Extended Term of the Lease, whether by any options under the Lease or otherwise, unless expressly so
provided in the Lease or any amendment or supplement to the Lease.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jeffrey Nugent, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Sientra, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: November 6, 2018

/s/ Jeffrey Nugent
Jeffrey Nugent
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Paul Little, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Sientra, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: November 6, 2018

/s/ Paul Little
Paul Little
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES‑‑OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Jeffrey Nugent, Chief Executive Officer of Sientra, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies that
to the best of his knowledge:
(1)

The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the period ended September 30, 2018, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit
32.1 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: November 6, 2018

/s/ Jeffrey Nugent
Jeffrey Nugent
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated
by reference into any filing of Sientra, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES‑‑OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Paul Little, Chief Financial Officer of Sientra, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies that to
the best of his knowledge:
(1)

The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the period ended September 30, 2018, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit
32.2 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: November 6, 2018

/s/ Paul Little
Paul Little
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated
by reference into any filing of Sientra, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

